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          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'd like to

          3  call the meeting of the Fire and Criminal Justice

          4  Committee to order.  My name is Miguel Martinez and

          5  I am the Chair of this Committee. Today, we are

          6  conducting a Hearing on Intros. 76, 134, 278 and

          7  428.

          8                 These four bills relate to EMS

          9  operations, service and reporting.  Intro. Number

         10  76, sponsored by Council Member Gerson, requires

         11  FDNY/EMS to track the time between a report to a

         12  9-1-1 operator to a medical emergency and the

         13  arrival of the FDNY/EMS to the patient.

         14                 The bill also requires the Fire

         15  Commissioner to submit a quarterly report to the

         16  City Council, detailing the average response time

         17  and range in response time for medical emergency for

         18  the City, each borough and each City block.  This

         19  legislation recognizes the difference between

         20  emergency medical service personnel reaching a

         21  building in which a patient is located and reaching

         22  the patient.

         23                 Intro. Number 134, sponsored by

         24  Council Member Sanders, requires that at least two

         25  EMS ambulances are located in each borough that have
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          2  proper equipment and trained personnel to transport

          3  a person weighing over 500 pounds or more to the

          4  hospital.

          5                 Although EMS has been purchasing and

          6  distributing more substantial gurneys to transport

          7  obese patients, other jurisdictions have purchased

          8  specially designed ambulances that are fully

          9  equipped to aid in the transport of an obese

         10  patients.

         11                 Intro. Number 278, sponsored by

         12  Council Member Clarke, mandates that the Fire

         13  Commissioner provide written notice, at least 45

         14  days prior to the permanent removal or relocation of

         15  any EMS battalion.  Notice must be given to the

         16  Council Member, community boards and borough

         17  presidents whose districts are served by the

         18  battalion, as well as the Chair of the City Council

         19  Fire and Criminal Justice Committee.

         20                 This legislation seeks to give

         21  interested parties the ability to independently

         22  assess the decision and reason for the removal or

         23  relocation of the battalion.  If enacted, it will

         24  provide community leaders and residents the

         25  opportunity to discuss and debate those decisions
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          2  before they are implemented.

          3                 Intro. Number 428, also sponsored by

          4  Council Member Gerson, requires that the Fire

          5  Commissioner considers the results of a test, as

          6  well as the seniority and meritorious services when

          7  promoting EMS officers.  This legislation seeks,

          8  partly with the promotion for fire services officers

          9  in the FDNY, regarding the promotional examination

         10  requirement.  If enacted, it also anticipates that

         11  in addition to the current test for EMS Lieutenant,

         12  tests would have to be given for promotion to the

         13  rank of EMS Captain and Deputy Chief.

         14                 I don't believe that anyone disputes

         15  the City has an obligation to deploy its resources

         16  in the most effective and efficient manner and to

         17  deliver emergency medical services in a dignified

         18  and professional way to all the people of the City

         19  of New York.  Similarly, I don't believe that anyone

         20  disputes that the City has an obligation to provide

         21  equal opportunity to all Emergency Medical Service

         22  workers to raise through the rank when they have

         23  demonstrated the proficiency necessary to do so.

         24                 I look forward to hearing testimony

         25  on these bills to see if there is any consensus on
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          2  whether or not they will be aiding us in the meeting

          3  of this obligation.

          4                 I will now call on Council Member

          5  Gerson, sponsor of two of the bills that are being

          6  presented, for opening remarks.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          8  very much Mr. Chair.  Let me take the occasion to,

          9  once again, thank you for your stellar leadership on

         10  all matters under the jurisdiction of this

         11  Committee.  But, as you know, I've been especially

         12  interested and concerned about matters pertaining to

         13  the EMS service.  Your leadership and your support

         14  in that area, as in every other area, continues to

         15  make a difference and our City is fortunate to have

         16  you as our Fire and Criminal Justice Committee

         17  Chair.  It's a pleasure for me to serve with you as

         18  well.

         19                 Mr. Chair, this is actually the

         20  second Hearing on Intro. 76 and it's my hope and

         21  expectation that while there will be no vote at this

         22  meeting of the Committee, that we will be able to

         23  move to a vote on Intro. 76 swiftly.  It is after, I

         24  should inform you and the Committee, as I've

         25  discussed with Counsel, Robert Colandra, that it is
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          2  our intention to move to slightly amend the Intro.

          3  Between now and a vote, to make the content of this

          4  proposed bill a pilot program for 18 months.

          5                 Thereafter, the provisions, the

          6  requirements would sunset unless, based upon the

          7  results of the pilot program, the Council or the

          8  Department or both decide to continue it.  That

          9  seems to be a sensible and prudent course and I hope

         10  we could all concur on that and we can get this

         11  very, very important pilot program going.

         12                 Basically, not basically,

         13  quintessential, what Intro. 76 seeks to do, is to

         14  provide vital information, vital information that

         15  can make a difference between life and death.

         16  Because, if we find out that there are delays or

         17  discrepancies in arrival time to a victim because of

         18  structural problems in a building, because of

         19  traffic congestion, because of accessibility issues

         20  and gaining entrance to a foyer, because of elevator

         21  issues, because of any number of the issues which we

         22  know bear on the speed of arrival time and traffic

         23  in our City, we then can make the necessary

         24  adjustment in deployment of forces or in the amount

         25  of EMS personnel deployed in the appropriate
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          2  vicinities.

          3                 In other words, if we see that it

          4  takes a few extra minutes to arrive at the side of a

          5  victim in a particular area, we can then identify

          6  the course and take remedial action, whether it's

          7  correcting the structural problem or if the

          8  structural problem is not correctable, adding closer

          9  personnel, so they can make up for the delay in one

         10  end by getting to the address or to the scene more

         11  quickly at the other end.

         12                 At the very least, the technology

         13  exists.  There is no additional burden imposed.

         14  There is no reason not to try and seek this

         15  additional information in addition to the current

         16  tracking and information which the EMS currently

         17  collects.  So, I urge the Department, I hope you

         18  will endorse the bill and I hope this Council will

         19  implement it and we could get on with it as quickly

         20  as possible.

         21                 Let me then turn to Intro. 428, on

         22  which we are having a first Hearing today.  This

         23  Intro. Applies to the EMS service, the same civil

         24  service meritorious promotion processes that

         25  currently exist in all the other uniformed services.
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          2    It is making EMS, putting EMS on par with their

          3  brethren in the Fire Department, as well as the

          4  other uniformed services, corrections and police.

          5                 We believe that this should apply

          6  into this service for the same reasons it applies to

          7  the other service, to assure members of the service

          8  that they will be able to seek and receive

          9  promotions on the basis of merit and not politics or

         10  other extraneous factors.

         11                 In a broader effort, I'll conclude

         12  and, on a broader note, I will conclude by reminding

         13  all of us that the members of the EMS service, and

         14  we really don't need any reminder, but it's more of

         15  a reiteration than a reminder, the members of the

         16  EMS rank among the heroes of our City.  I represent

         17  the Lower Manhattan district and we saw their

         18  heroism first- hand, up close in our district in

         19  those fateful moments and days following 9/11, on

         20  and following 9/11.

         21                 We all, throughout all of our City,

         22  have seen these heroes in action.  Yet, too often,

         23  the administrations, and this is a continuation of a

         24  history, but too often we do not provide to this

         25  service the support, the resources and the full
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          2  professional uniformed status that the members, the

          3  men and women of this service deserve.  In this one

          4  way, putting promotions in this service on par with

          5  that of the other services, will be a step forward

          6  to giving the EMS the full support and professional

          7  recognition that these men and women deserve.

          8                 In the days ahead, we'll be

          9  introducing other legislation to provide the radio

         10  equipment and to provide the other equipment and

         11  support they need, so they receive all the resources

         12  that this service deserves.  But, this is a first

         13  step.

         14                 Finally, Mr. Chair, I want to

         15  associate myself and express my full support to

         16  Intro. 134 and Intro. 278.  I know my colleagues

         17  will address those Intros., those bills more fully.

         18  But, I'll, just for now, say that they are part of a

         19  broader effort to assure that this City continues to

         20  have the best possible emergency response system in

         21  the world and that all New Yorkers, in all

         22  locations, of all physical conditions, including all

         23  weight levels, can be assured that they will receive

         24  full and complete and the best possible emergency

         25  responses in time of need.
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          2                 This is good for the heroes of the

          3  system and this is good for all New Yorkers.  I hope

          4  we can get on with it. Thank you very much Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

          7  Council Member. Before we proceed, I want to

          8  recognize Members of the Committee that are present.

          9    Council Member Addabbo is here from Queens,

         10  Council Member Jimmy Vacca from the Bronx.  I also

         11  want to recognize our Counsel to the Committee,

         12  Robert Colandra and Janine Ventura, our Legislative

         13  Policy Analyst.

         14                 At this time, I'm going to ask the

         15  Administration for testimony and I would ask your

         16  patience in terms of please giving testimony on

         17  Intro. 134 as one of your last, as we're waiting for

         18  the sponsor of the bill, Council Member Sanders, to

         19  arrive.  Thank you and will you please just identify

         20  yourself.

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Good morning

         22  Chairman Martinez and Council Members.  My name is

         23  John Peruggia.  I'm the Chief of Emergency Medical

         24  Services for the New York City Fire Department. I

         25  will speak to you today about three bills before
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          2  this Committee that deal with EMS operations and

          3  staffing, Intro. 76, 134 and 278.

          4                 Joining me today is Tom Patitucci of

          5  the Department of Citywide Administrative Services,

          6  who will discuss Intro. 428, regarding EMS

          7  promotions.  Also with me today is Deputy Assistant

          8  Chief John McFarland from the Emergency Medical

          9  Service Operations.

         10                 Intro. 76: EMS Response Time

         11  Tracking.  Intro. 76 seeks to change the way the

         12  Department records and reports EMS response time.  A

         13  similar bill was Intro. 540, was proposed in 2005.

         14  Then, as now, we oppose this legislation.

         15                 The Fire Department tracks EMS

         16  response times from the point at which the 9- 1- 1

         17  call is received and call type by the dispatcher is

         18  recorded, example: Cardiac arrest, difficulty in

         19  breathing, until the time that the EMS unit, which

         20  is dispatched to the emergency arrives at the street

         21  address of the call.  Current national standards for

         22  EMS employ the same or similar reporting methods.  I

         23  am not aware of any other large EMS system in the

         24  country that tracks response time in a matter called

         25  for by this bill.
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          2                 Intro. 76 would require the FDNY to

          3  track the time from the initial receipt of the 9- 1-

          4  1 call to the time that EMS actually reaches the

          5  patient.  This method raises several issues. First,

          6  Fire Department and EMS has no automated method or

          7  mechanism synchronized with our dispatch system that

          8  could capture the time it takes EMS personnel to

          9  reach the intended patient, as called for by the

         10  bill.  EMS personnel could relate to our

         11  dispatchers, via their radios, the time which they

         12  reached the patient.  This in impractical, however,

         13  and can waste valuable time in often critical

         14  conditions, transmitting information, awaiting

         15  acknowledgment and confirming correct information.

         16                 Second, the proposed legislation does

         17  not address how to measure response times to

         18  multiple-casualty incidents or to incidents where

         19  the location of the patient was not accurately

         20  reported to 9-1-1, which happens with some

         21  frequency.  EMS personnel would have no way to

         22  record accurate data in these cases in the manner

         23  required by the bill.  Response time statistics,

         24  therefore, compiled without information on these

         25  types of cases, would be meaningless and would not
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          2  assist the Department in efficiently and effectively

          3  deploying its resources.

          4                 Aside from strictly operational

          5  concerns, the FDNY does not have the ability to

          6  provide response times by City block, as required by

          7  the bill.  Currently, the Fire Department reports

          8  EMS response times City- wide, borough- wide, by EMS

          9  division and by atoms, which are geographic areas

         10  which were originally based upon NYPD precinct

         11  sectors when the EMS dispatch computer was

         12  developed.

         13                 In sum, while we share the Council's

         14  concern for recording accurate response time data,

         15  the provisions in Intro. 76 are unworkable and do

         16  not make sense operationally.

         17                 At the request, I will pass over the

         18  testimony on Intro. 134 and go back to it at a later

         19  point.

         20                 Intro. 278: Public Notice of EMS

         21  Battalion Removal.  Intro. 278 would require the

         22  FDNY to provide written notice to affected elected

         23  officials and community groups of a permanent,

         24  removal or relocation of any EMS battalion at least

         25  45 days prior to that change in location.
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          2                 Similar legislation was introduced in

          3  2004.  At that time, we testified that the

          4  legislation, however well intended, would not

          5  accomplish its stated goal of protecting the health

          6  and safety of New Yorkers.  That is still the case.

          7  Also, while we do not oppose this legislation, per

          8  se, we believe it is fatally flawed and should be

          9  amended if it is to go forward.

         10                 First, the legislation uses the term

         11  emergency medical services battalion.  There is

         12  really no such thing as an emergency medical

         13  services battalion in EMS parlance.  The Fire

         14  Department operates 574 ambulance tours a day over a

         15  24- hour period.  Ambulance units for each tour are

         16  cleaned, stocked, staffed and deployed from one of

         17  the current 32 EMS stations throughout the City.

         18  For its tour, however, the ambulance unit is not

         19  based at the station.  Instead, each ambulance is

         20  stationed at a specific cross- street location.

         21                 The EMS deployment matrix determines

         22  at which cross- street ambulance will be deployed

         23  for each tour.  This matrix takes into account

         24  statistics such as response times, traffic and

         25  population patterns, special events, nearby hospital
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          2  and voluntary EMS resources, as well as other

          3  factors.  The matrix is obviously and necessarily

          4  very dynamic and easily adjustable, allowing the

          5  Department to quickly and efficiently adapt to

          6  changing conditions.  This is our greatest strength.

          7                 While we move or redeploy an

          8  individual ambulance from its assigned street corner

          9  location, sometimes as often as four times a year

         10  and often temporarily for just a single tour, EMS

         11  would have no need to move EMS stations to respond

         12  to changes in a community's needs or change in

         13  demographics, call volume or response time.  Even if

         14  an EMS station did get relocated, the ambulance, the

         15  ambulances, within its coverage area, would still be

         16  assigned to the same street corner locations where

         17  they were before the station moved.

         18                 We would be happy to discuss with the

         19  Committee the need to provide notification in the

         20  event that we decide to move an EMS station.  For

         21  example, just last week, we had a ribbon cutting

         22  ceremony at our new EMS Station 32 on Bond Street in

         23  Brooklyn.  As currently worded, however, the

         24  legislation under consideration is vague and subject

         25  to misinterpretation.  We're opposed to any
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          2  legislation that requires the FDNY to provide notice

          3  of every move we make of an ambulance from a cross-

          4  street location.

          5                 If the dynamics and flexibility of

          6  our ambulance deployment system was compromised in

          7  any way, the health and safety of New Yorkers could

          8  be negatively impacted.  EMS has been able to adapt

          9  quickly to address pressing needs as they arise.

         10  Absent such clarification, we cannot support this

         11  bill.

         12                 I would like to proceed with the

         13  testimony on Intro. 134, if that's okay?

         14                 Intro. 134: Ambulance Services for

         15  the Morbidly Obese.  The legislative findings that

         16  accompany Intro. 134 claim that: New York City

         17  ambulance service may not be sufficiently prepared

         18  to assist morbidly obese New Yorkers.  Anecdotal

         19  evidence indicates that the Fire Department has been

         20  unable to provide proper emergency medical transport

         21  to this population.

         22                 This is simply not true.  The

         23  Department is fully equipped to and does provide

         24  pre- hospital care and transportation to the

         25  morbidly obese throughout the five boroughs.  Of our
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          2  fleet of nearly 400 emergency ambulances, 164 are

          3  now equipped with stretchers that, when raised, can

          4  transport a patient up to 700 pounds and when

          5  lowered, can transport a patient up to 1,100 pounds.

          6                 The ambulances equipped with these

          7  stretchers compromise (sic) the majority of our

          8  first- line fleet of emergency ambulances, which are

          9  generally deployed for each tour. All other

         10  ambulances in the fleet are equipped with stretchers

         11  that currently can transport a patient up to 400

         12  pounds.

         13                 Over the next several years, as our

         14  new ambulances continue to arrive and be placed into

         15  service, all of them will be equipped with these

         16  enhanced capacity stretchers.  My research reveals

         17  that there are no stretchers currently on the market

         18  that have a larger patient carrying capacity than

         19  the ones which we are equipping our new ambulances

         20  as they come on- line.

         21                 According to New York State

         22  Department of Health Guidelines, EMTs and paramedics

         23  are expected to be capable of carrying 125 pounds

         24  unassisted and 250 pounds as a team.  In the event

         25  one of our EMS units responds to an emergency
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          2  involving a patient weighing more than 250 pounds,

          3  the Department has a standard operating procedure

          4  which is put into action.  For example, additional

          5  EMS units and/or local fire companies would be

          6  dispatched to the scene.  Moreover, in the most

          7  extreme cases, our rescue companies respond with

          8  their specialized equipment for getting to and

          9  lifting a morbidly obese patient.

         10                 Though these types of calls are

         11  fairly rare, the Department is fully confident that

         12  with its current resources and procedures, any

         13  person in New York City who requires EMS transport

         14  will be transported regardless of their weight.  I

         15  am aware of no incidents in which the FDNY EMS was

         16  not able to assist a patient because of the

         17  patient's weight.  FDNY EMS is fully equipped to

         18  transport all patients we are called to assist.

         19                 While the legislation calls for the

         20  Department to have two ambulances per borough,

         21  capable of transporting a person up to 500 pounds,

         22  the majority of our first- line fleet on any given

         23  tour has stretchers with the capacity, as I just

         24  stated, to transport patients up to 1,100 pounds, if

         25  necessary.  In a couple of years, all of them will.
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          2                 In addition, our FDNY ambulances

          3  themselves are all capable of transporting the

          4  morbidly obese from the incident location to the

          5  hospital.

          6                 Finally, I'm unclear as to what

          7  anecdotal evidence the Council has, as cited in its

          8  legislative findings, that seems to warrant this

          9  legislation.  All of our EMS crews have the

         10  training, equipment and procedures in place to

         11  respond to all incidents involving persons who are

         12  morbidly obese.  I'm happy to address any

         13  outstanding concerns you may have and believe we can

         14  satisfy all parties without legislation.

         15                 Intro. 428: EMS Promotions.  As I

         16  stated earlier, the Department of Citywide

         17  Administrative Services will now comment on Intro.

         18  428 and we defer to their expertise in this area.

         19  Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you

         20  today. I'd be happy to answer your questions once

         21  DCAS has concluded its testimony.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         23  Good morning Chairman Martinez and Members of the

         24  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.  I

         25  am Thomas Patitucci, Assistant Commissioner for
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          2  Examinations in the Division of Citywide Personnel

          3  Services at the New York City Department of Citywide

          4  Administrative Services, otherwise known as DCAS.  I

          5  am joined by my colleague, Mitchell Paluszek, Deputy

          6  General Counsel for Personnel Legal Matters at DCAS.

          7                 Introduction 428 would amend the

          8  Administrative Code of the City of New York to

          9  require that promotions of officers and members of

         10  the Emergency Medical Service of the Fire Department

         11  be made on the basis of seniority, meritorious

         12  service and superior capacity, as shown by

         13  competitive examination.

         14                 By way of introduction, DCAS already

         15  implements the mandate expressed in Article Five,

         16  Section Six, of the New York State Constitution,

         17  which provides that appointments and promotions in

         18  the civil service shall be made according to merit

         19  and fitness to be ascertained, as far as

         20  practicable, by examination which, as far as

         21  practicable, shall be competitive.

         22                 It is the understanding of DCAS that

         23  what is really at issue here is a desire by the City

         24  Council to require, by legislation, that a

         25  competitive examination be administered to
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          2  individuals in order to move from Assignment Level

          3  One to Assignment Level Two in the one classified

          4  title of Supervising Emergency Medical Service

          5  Specialist or Supervising EMS Specialist.

          6                 Because it is specifically within the

          7  jurisdiction of DCAS, as the municipal civil service

          8  commission for the City of New York, to make such

          9  merit and fitness- related determinations with

         10  respect to the classification of titles, lines of

         11  promotion and the conducting of examinations, and

         12  furthermore, because DCAS has determined that a

         13  competitive examination is neither required nor

         14  appropriate for movement between these two

         15  Assignment Levels, the Bloomberg Administration

         16  strongly opposes this bill.

         17                 We are aware that Assignment Level

         18  One in the title of Supervising EMS Specialist has

         19  historically been referred to within FDNY as

         20  Lieutenant and that Assignment Level Two has been

         21  referred to as Captain.  However, the fact that

         22  these in- house names have been given to these

         23  Assignment Levels does not force a conclusion that

         24  these are or should be two distinct civil service

         25  titles or that an examination is needed before
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          2  permitting an individual to assume the

          3  responsibilities of Assignment Level Two.

          4                 The New York State Civil Service Law

          5  governs the employment of all individuals in public

          6  service in the State of New York.  In the Civil

          7  Service Law, the local administration of the Civil

          8  Service Laws is entrusted to local commissions,

          9  termed Municipal Civil Service Commissions.

         10                 The Charter of the City of New York

         11  provides that the Commissioner of DCAS shall have

         12  the powers and duties of a Municipal Civil Service

         13  Commission other, under Civil Service Law.

         14  Additionally, the Charter specifically enumerates

         15  several powers and duties of the DCAS Commissioner.

         16  Paragraphs Two and Three of Subdivision A of Section

         17  814 provide that the DCAS Commissioner shall have

         18  the power and duty to establish classes of positions

         19  in the civil service, that is, the power and duty to

         20  classify and, of course, to reclassify titles, as

         21  well as the power and duty to conduct examinations

         22  for such positions.

         23                 That these responsibilities properly

         24  lie within the jurisdiction of a locality's

         25  Municipal Civil Service Commission is well- settled
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          2  by the courts.  Approximately 75 years ago, in the

          3  case entitled Matter of Kilcoyne v. Lorh, the

          4  highest court of this state affirmed the holding by

          5  the Appellate Division that a local legislative body

          6  does not have the power to classify civil service

          7  positions and that such power rests with the

          8  Municipal Civil Service Commission of a locality.

          9                 DCAS has never taken its role as a

         10  Municipal Civil Service Commission lightly.  A

         11  special unit within DCAS' Bureau of Examinations

         12  works almost exclusively on matters which could be

         13  considered classification issues.  That is, issues

         14  relating to the structuring of titles and

         15  methological  --  sorry, methodical, thank you  --

         16  methodical manner, so as to ensure that all City

         17  agencies will have the workforce they need to

         18  fulfill their missions.  The rest of the Bureau of

         19  Examinations works on the related task of conducting

         20  competitive examinations to rank candidates for

         21  these positions.

         22                 To the layperson, these

         23  classification and examination tasks may seem easy.

         24  They are not.  For the most part, the Bureau of

         25  Examinations is staffed with individuals with years
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          2  of experience in classifying and testing for

          3  positions. Moreover, many of these individuals have

          4  graduate- level training in test development and in

          5  the conducting of job analysis.

          6                 DCAS is a member of the Mid-Atlantic

          7  Personnel Assessment Consortium and I have

          8  personally made presentations to this professional

          9  organization on issues ranging from job analysis to

         10  exam development.  Some in the Bureau of

         11  Examinations are active members of professional

         12  organizations for Industrial Psychologists.  In

         13  short, they are experts.

         14                 It is, for example, the

         15  responsibility of the DCAS examination and

         16  classification experts to determine whether two

         17  positions require entirely different skills and

         18  abilities, or whether two positions need essentially

         19  the same skills and abilities, but at varying

         20  degrees of expertise and responsibility and with

         21  different levels of supervision.

         22                 A determination that entirely new

         23  skills are needed for a position would support the

         24  creation of two distinct civil service titles and

         25  this, in turn, would require than an examination be
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          2  given to determine whether an individual possessed

          3  these new skills and abilities before allowing the

          4  individual to fill the new position.

          5                 Conversely, where a determination is

          6  made that entirely new skills are not required to

          7  fill a position, no new civil service examination

          8  would be needed to evaluate whether an individual

          9  possessed the required skills and abilities for that

         10  position.  In the language of test developers, this

         11  is a difference in span of control and would support

         12  the decision to establish assignment levels within

         13  one title, rather than creating two district civil

         14  service titles.

         15                 In 2004, DCAS conducted a job

         16  analysis for the title of Supervising EMS

         17  Specialist.  DCAS invited a number of experienced

         18  Lieutenants and Captains to serve as subject matter

         19  experts and to assist in the identification of the

         20  critical and important elements of the Supervisor

         21  job.  The information that they provided was

         22  compared to the existing job specification to

         23  Supervising EMS Specialist.

         24                 These experts did not identify any

         25  significant differences between the duties and
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          2  responsibilities of Assignment Level One and

          3  Assignment Level Two.  As a result, there was no

          4  justification for amending the job specification and

          5  we have continued the classification of the title of

          6  Supervising EMS Specialist with two assignment

          7  levels.

          8                 It must be noted that the Appellate

          9  Division of the New York Supreme Court has upheld

         10  the authority of this agency to make these kinds of

         11  determinations.  In the late 1970's, individuals

         12  challenged the decision of the Department of

         13  Personnel to consolidate several senior civil

         14  service titles in the Department of Correction into

         15  one civil service title with four assignment levels.

         16                 In that case, Lenihan v. City of New

         17  York, the Appellate Division held:  The director of

         18  personnel and individual department heads must be

         19  given some flexibility in eliminating and creating

         20  positions in their ongoing attempt to improve the

         21  personnel system.

         22                 It must also be noted that similar

         23  title structures exist in other, at other City

         24  agencies.  The promotional structure of the New York

         25  City Police Department, for example, offers certain
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          2  parallels.  At the NYPD, individuals promote through

          3  examinations to the title of Captain.  All ranks

          4  senior to Captain, however, are, in fact, levels or

          5  details of the Captain title.

          6                 The decision of DCAS to structure the

          7  NYPD promotional line in such a manner is based upon

          8  a similar conclusion of DCAS that the responsibility

          9  of positions in the NYPD above Lieutenant, that is

         10  Captain and above, do not differ so much in

         11  substance as in degree.

         12                 I should note that DCAS would never

         13  discourage any agency from developing its own

         14  criteria for deciding how to make assignments to the

         15  levels.  However, an important distinction must be

         16  made between the establishment of criteria when

         17  considering movement of an individual to a higher

         18  assignment level and the civil service need to

         19  conduct a competitive examination for new and

         20  different knowledge, skills and abilities.  The

         21  appropriate use of objective criteria does not

         22  necessarily equal testing and the establishment of a

         23  ranked eligible list.

         24                 The legislation, this legislation

         25  would substitute the appropriate determination of
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          2  the experts with a broad legislative determination.

          3  Its passage would be contrary to the provisions of

          4  New York State Civil Service Law and the New York

          5  City Charter, both of which recognize that the

          6  responsibility for classifying titles and for

          7  examining for those titles must rest with the

          8  experts, in this case, DCAS.  For these reasons, the

          9  Administration strongly opposes Intro. 428.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         11  gentlemen.  So, other than the NYPD, as you stated

         12  in your testimony  --  first of all, can you tell me

         13  the difference between a Lieutenant and a Captain in

         14  terms of salary?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

         16  don't have the salary information with me, no.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is there a

         18  difference?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

         20  believe there is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Why, if they

         22  do the same thing?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         24  They do the same thing, but their responsibilities

         25  are, involve more people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, there is a

          3  difference. You just finished saying that it's

          4  basically the same thing.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

          6  said that there is a difference, there is a

          7  difference in the matter of degree, what we call

          8  span of control, not in substance in terms of what

          9  they actually do.  Basically, what I'm saying is

         10  that Lieutenants and Captains do essentially the

         11  same thing, except that Captains are responsible for

         12  more people.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, based on

         14  the recent case, in terms of within the Department,

         15  there was a settlement made of a lawsuit that was

         16  presented by two Lieutenants that were not promoted

         17  to Captains.  One was, one wasn't and a settlement

         18  was made.  What was the agreement made in terms of

         19  that settlement.  What was recognized?  Any changes

         20  in the process?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         22  I'm not aware of that agreement.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, who, DCAS

         24  wasn't involved in the settlement and the promotion

         25  of that individual?
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  That was an

          3  agreement made with the Fire Department, DCAS,

          4  because it is specifically between Assignment Levels

          5  and not two separate civil service titles, we would

          6  have to defer to the Fire Department as to how that

          7  particular case was settled.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, in other

          9  words, it's clearly stated in your testimony that

         10  you give that flexibility to the Department to go

         11  ahead and administer those promotions. Now, what I'm

         12  trying to understand is, in the NYPD, you're using

         13  the example, clearly there is a difference between

         14  Lieutenant and Captain when there is an examination

         15  administered because of the different

         16  responsibilities and know how that one needs to have

         17  to become a Captain.  Am I right?  Is there an exam

         18  between Lieutenant and Captain?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         20  Yes there is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Then, as you

         22  mentioned also then, from Captain to, I think it's

         23  Deputy Inspector  --

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         25  Correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  --  The next

          3  level?  They call them level now, not rank, because

          4  they're not, there's not an exam to become a Deputy

          5  Inspector.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

          7  believe they refer to them as details.  Captain and,

          8  all, everything, all ranks above Captain are details

          9  from Captain, from the Captain title.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Okay.  So, why

         11  have a salary difference from Lieutenant to Captain

         12  if you're only supervising, let's say, two more

         13  individuals and not have a process of examination

         14  where people are promoted based on the merit and not

         15  selection of individuals?  There's a bias there.

         16                 In other words, if I'm not well liked

         17  by the high ranks that make up that committee within

         18  the EMS and Fire Department, I'm never going to get

         19  promoted and I think that was the substance and the

         20  basis of the lawsuit that the Department faced

         21  earlier this year.  Why are we not protecting

         22  ourselves from that?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         24  The distinction between Assignment Levels does not

         25  necessarily mean that there, there does not need to
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          2  be any objective criteria that determine your

          3  movement, your reassignment from Assignment Level

          4  One to Assignment Level Two.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But who

          6  determines that criteria?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

          8  The agency, its within the authority of the agency

          9  to do that.  It is not a civil service promotion.

         10  It is a reassignment and, therefore, it's within the

         11  authority of the agency to do that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And the

         13  difference between Captain and Deputy Chief?  Is

         14  there a difference between Captain and Deputy Chief?

         15    They are also promoted?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  In

         17  the fire service, yes, there, there is a difference

         18  between Captain and Battalion Chief and between

         19  Battalion Chief and Deputy Chief and that's why

         20  there are examinations for those, for those

         21  different titles.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And the

         23  difference between the Captain and Lieutenant in the

         24  Fire Department?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:
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          2  Yes there is, yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is it done

          4  through an examination or is it done through

          5  assignment?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

          7  The, the movement from Lieutenant to Captain in NYPD

          8  is a civil service promotion that's determined

          9  through examination.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Why?  Why in

         11  the Fire Department, within the same department you

         12  have two disparities? You need an examination in the

         13  Fire Department and you don't need an examination in

         14  the EMS?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         16  For the reasons that I mentioned in my testimony, in

         17  NYPD there are clear distinctions in terms of the

         18  abilities, the knowledge, skills and abilities that

         19  are needed in order to perform the job of Captain

         20  versus Lieutenant.  We do not have that evidence for

         21  Lieutenant and Captain and Supervising EMS

         22  Specialist.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You said that

         24  already. But, I'm trying to get more, I need more

         25  information to understand.  In the Fire Department,
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          2  which is one department, EMS and the Fire

          3  Department, when one becomes a Captain in the Fire

          4  Department, what are the differences in your

          5  responsibilities?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

          7  wouldn't have them  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  From

          9  Lieutenant to Captain?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:  I

         11  wouldn't be able to delineate all of those, I'm

         12  prepared here to talk about Lieutenant to Captain

         13   --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do they

         15  supervise more people?

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

         17  They supervise more people, but they also, they also

         18  are required to have different abilities as Captains

         19  than they are as Lieutenants, also different

         20  knowledge and those, and those things serve as the

         21  basis for the determination that it should be a

         22  separate title that requires competitive examination

         23  to move from one title to another.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct and

         25  then you're saying that, in essence, that in EMS, to
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          2  become a Captain from a Lieutenant, you don't need

          3  those skills that you just described within the Fire

          4  Department?  We're just literally paying people more

          5  money.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PATITUCCI:

          7  What I'm saying is that you need the same ability,

          8  knowledge, skills and abilities to perform both

          9  Assignment Level One responsibilities and Assignment

         10  Level Two responsibilities in Supervising EMS

         11  Supervisor, Specialist, rather.  You need, as I

         12  said, you need the same knowledge, skills and

         13  abilities.  The difference is that you're

         14  responsible for more people.  So, you're applying

         15  those same abilities in a larger arena.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, can anyone

         17  from the EMS tell me, you know, why did it take a

         18  lawsuit to recognize that one individual had the

         19  merit, the know how and skills to become a Captain

         20  because the process that he went through of

         21  selection never, he never got to become a Captain

         22  until he presented a lawsuit and then the Department

         23  recognized that, yeah, let's make the guy a Captain?

         24                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't have all the

         25  specifics of the settlement that was come to in that
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          2  lawsuit, but it should be noted that the individual

          3  who was granted promotion as a result of the

          4  settlement was offered promotion to the rank of

          5  Captain through the promotional process earlier in

          6  this year and he elected to pass it over pending the

          7  outcome of his lawsuit.  So, the Fire Department  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But he had

          9  presented a lawsuit first before it was granted, am

         10  I right?

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't recall the

         12  dates, however, you know, there's a process that we

         13  use to identify individuals that we promote to a

         14  different Assignment Level or place into a different

         15  Assignment Level, the process that the Department

         16  has used identically for all changes in Assignment

         17  Level to the Captain area since 2001.

         18                 We look into a number of different

         19  criteria when selecting individuals.  With the round

         20  of promotions that was offered in the spring of

         21  2006, one of the two individuals who was involved in

         22  the lawsuit not only met the criteria, but was at a

         23  level amongst the other participants that put him in

         24  place to be offered a promotion and he elected, on

         25  advice of his counsel, to pass up the promotion at

                                                            38

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  that time.  He was not, he was not offered a

          3  promotion because he was part and parcel of a

          4  lawsuit.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Well, you

          6  know, over and over again, we've heard from many

          7  members of the Department in terms that the

          8  selection process  --  can you describe the

          9  selection process, what, in other words, I'm a

         10  Lieutenant, what do I do?  Do I submit an

         11  application?  Do I go through an interview?  Who

         12  interviews me?  Do I take a physical exam?  What

         13  happens for me to become from Lieutenant to Captain?

         14    What's the process?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  When the Department

         16  identifies that we expect to have vacancies in the

         17  Captain area, the Assignment Level Two, then we put

         18  out an EMS Command Order, which is distributed to

         19  all EMS facilities, you know, identifying that

         20  they'll be vacancies in Assignment Level Two Captain

         21  and we establish some criteria for those individuals

         22  who currently hold the rank of Lieutenant and

         23  Assignment Level One, by which they could submit for

         24  consideration for  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  What are the
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          2  criteria?

          3                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  One, they have to

          4  have been a Supervisor Level One, a Lieutenant,

          5  serving in title, actively performing the duties of

          6  the Lieutenant for four years.  We ask that their

          7  most recent employee, annual employee evaluation be

          8  a very good or outstanding rating.  We ask that they

          9  have no pending or significant discipline or pending

         10  patient care allegations against them in the

         11  previous two years.  We, and for the most recent

         12  rounds, we have asked that preference, or we've

         13  indicated that preference would be given to officers

         14  who held paramedic certification as opposed to EMT

         15  certification.  They have to submit a cover letter,

         16  a resume and any pertinent documentation that they

         17  indicate would put them in a better position than

         18  another individual to be promoted, college degrees

         19  or whatever the case might be.

         20                 All that information, when it's

         21  received, is catalogued into a database and verified

         22  and when an individual is determined to meet those

         23  minimum qualification, he or she then is scheduled

         24  to attend an interview.  The interview is conducted

         25  by an EMS Division Commander and EMS Deputy Chief
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          2  with an observing member from the Department's Equal

          3  Opportunity Employment Office.

          4                 They ask very general questions that

          5  give us some insight into the person's

          6  organizational skills, their ability to do conflict

          7  resolution, their ability in performance in

          8  motivating individuals and their communication

          9  skills.  Items that we believe are important for

         10  someone who's going to be an Assignment Level Two,

         11  where they need to have more definitive capability

         12  in those areas than First- Line Officer or the

         13  Lieutenant.

         14                 At the same time that the interview

         15  is being conducted, a recommendation form is

         16  forwarded to the individual's Division Commander or

         17  for those individuals in the Lieutenant rank who are

         18  assigned to off- line positions, to their Unit Head,

         19  which is normally an Associate Assistant

         20  Commissioner or a Director.  We ask for their

         21  performance ability, again, with relationship to

         22  their leadership potential, their communication

         23  skills, their organizational and resource

         24  management, because they are things that are

         25  important for someone who's going to be placed in
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          2  the Assignment Level of Captain.

          3                 From that, then we evaluate all the

          4  information based upon those recommendations, the

          5  results of the interview committee and the person's

          6  past performance and then we make appointments to

          7  the level of Captain based upon how well persons did

          8  in that process.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Who makes the

         10  final determination?

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I make the final

         12  decision as the Chief of EMS.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Would you say,

         14  as Chief of EMS, that, is there any significant

         15  differences between the duties of a Captain?  If

         16  there are, can you describe them, a significant duty

         17  between a Captain and a Lieutenant?

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I think DCAS was

         19  very appropriate in their definition for Assignment

         20  Level  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  The  --

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  In that the

         23  tasks and standards of the Lieutenant and the

         24  Captain, Assignment Level One and Two are very

         25  similar.  Again, what the Captain does different is
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          2  the Lieutenant is responsible for an individual tour

          3  of ambulances during that eight- hour period that he

          4  or she is on duty to ensure that those ambulances

          5  are staffed appropriately and personnel are

          6  responsible for their equipment, handling reports

          7   --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Where do they

          9  do that, from the battalion or the station?

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA: They do that from the

         11  station, if they're at the station or if they're out

         12  in the field, they observe the EMTs' and paramedics'

         13  ability to perform patient care, they inspect

         14  ambulances when they're in their field, they respond

         15  to assignment to perform command and control.

         16                 The Captain does very similar things.

         17    When he or she is in the field, they observe the

         18  performance of patient care by EMTs and paramedics.

         19  They also observe the Lieutenant's ability to

         20  control situations and at the station level, they're

         21  not responsible just for the particular tour, but

         22  they're responsible for ensuring that personnel and

         23  resources are adequately distributed amongst the

         24  stations, so that we can run ambulances on all

         25  tours.  They review the reports that are done by the
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          2  Lieutenant and they make recommendations on those

          3  reports. The degree  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, there's

          5  redundance -             CHIEF PERUGGIA:  The degree

          6  in which they do the task is at a higher level, but

          7  it's very similar in nature.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, it's

          9  basically redundant tasks within that particular

         10  field.

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It's a  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In other

         13  words, I supervise as a Lieutenant, make sure we're

         14  manned, we're staffed, we have the equipment, then I

         15  do paperwork, I give it to somebody else who's

         16  getting paid higher money to review the same thing

         17  that I just finished doing.

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  The Lieutenant,

         19  there's different Lieutenants on for each tour.

         20  There's only one Captain assigned to a station.  So,

         21  there's not a Captain on each tour supervising the

         22  Lieutenant.  The Captain comes in on his days and

         23  reviews paperwork from the previous tours, generates

         24  monthly schedules, responsible for paperwork

         25  regarding repairs and maintenance of the facility,
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          2  as well as the administration of discipline or

          3  corrective action, which is, you know, suggested by

          4  the Lieutenant.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And, in that

          6  process, that you know of, if you have the

          7  information or if you could testify to that, if I am

          8  a Lieutenant for ten years and I've been going

          9  through the process of getting a promotion, how many

         10  incidents have you had of Lieutenants that have only

         11  served five years getting the promotion?

         12                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't have those

         13  numbers off hand, but  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  But it

         15  happens?

         16                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  There are

         17  individuals who've had less time in the Lieutenant

         18  title  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  That become

         20  Captain.

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  Than others and

         22  who have gotten promoted to the rank of Captain.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do you have a

         24  breakdown of ethnicities in terms of within the

         25  Captain level, black, Hispanic, white?
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  What are they?

          4                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Currently, in the

          5  Captain's title 14 of 67 Captains who are on

          6  payroll, or 21 percent, are racially diverse,

          7  meaning non- Caucasian and 15 of 67, or 22 percent,

          8  are gender diverse, male, you know, female versus

          9  male.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Can you give

         11  me specific, how many blacks, how many Hispanics?

         12                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Currently, of the

         13  67, our reports indicate that we have eight Hispanic

         14  Captains, one Asian and five black, with 53 then

         15  being white.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  How many women

         17  you said?

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  There are 15 out of

         19  67  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You did say

         21  that.

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  That are female.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And

         24  Lieutenants, can you give me the number for

         25  Lieutenants?  Because you need an examination for
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          2  Lieutenant, correct?

          3                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Yes.  Currently,

          4  there's 338 Lieutenants active on payroll in

          5  Emergency Medical Services. With regards to racial

          6  diversity, 94 of those officers, or 28 percent, are

          7  non- Caucasian.  With regards to gender diversity,

          8  76 are female, or 22 percent.  So, I think those

          9  numbers show that from Lieutenant to Captain, the

         10  diversity percentage with regards to gender is very

         11  similar.  Although it's slightly decreased, we

         12  should note for the record that the Department does,

         13  stands very much behind the process which has been

         14  established to identify individuals who should be

         15  given Assignment Level Two.

         16                 We believe that the process is fair

         17  and equitable. Over the last two years and three

         18  months, since July of  '04, when I was appointed to

         19  the position of Chief of EMS, of the 31 individuals

         20  who were promoted to Captain, eight, or 26 percent,

         21  were female and 11, or 35 percent, have had non-

         22  Caucasianal (phonetic) racial diversity.  So, in the

         23  last two years, we've clearly shown a significant

         24  improvement in our diversity in promoting to the

         25  rank of Captain.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And you were

          3  appointed in what year?

          4                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  July of  '04.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'll turn it

          6  over to the sponsor of the bill, but I'm going to

          7  come back for further questioning on that particular

          8  bill and the others.  So, we're going to hear from

          9  some of the colleagues on the Committee. Council

         10  Member Gerson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         12  very much Mr. Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'm sorry, I

         14  want to recognize Council Member Tony Avella, who

         15  joined us.  I had not noticed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm going to

         17  give DCAS a little bit of a break for a few moments,

         18  since you've been so thorough, Mr. Chair, I'll let

         19  them catch their breath.  I want to turn, for a

         20  moment, to Intro. 76 and then we'll go back to 428.

         21  Although, again, I thank you for the thoroughness of

         22  your questioning.

         23                 Chief, it's a pleasure to see you as

         24  always  --

         25                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Same here
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          2  Councilman.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  And you

          4  know what a big fan I am of not only your service,

          5  but of the work you do, which is, actually why I'm a

          6  little disappointed in your testimony today with

          7  respect, actually more than a little disappointed,

          8  with respect to Intro. 76.

          9                 Actually, at the last Hearing of this

         10  Intro., you are correct in pointing out that this

         11  was heard in conjunction with a similar proposal for

         12  measuring response times in a fire situation, for

         13  Fire Department apparatus, non- EMS apparatus, which

         14  is not before us today.  The Department's testimony,

         15  as I recall, was limited to that bill and raised

         16  technical questions, technical issues with respect

         17  to the differential between time of arrival at the

         18  address to time of arrival at the fire, which apply

         19  to a fire situation, but do not apply to an EMS

         20  situation where you're dealing with a victim in a

         21  particular location as opposed to a fire at an

         22  address that could be spreading.

         23                 The Department's testimony at that

         24  time, opposition, expressed opposition only to the

         25  bill pertaining to the fire situation and you did
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          2  not express an opinion one way or another at that

          3  Hearing with respect to the EMS situation, which I

          4  had hoped, I read into that, that you recognized a

          5  material difference between the two situations.  I'm

          6  just curious what has changed between then and now

          7  in your outlook?  What new information, if any, have

          8  you discovered to lead to the testimony and

          9  opposition you presented this morning?

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe, if I'm

         11  correct, and I have a copy of the previous testimony

         12  on the response time Intro. 540, that we did discuss

         13  the impact of measuring fire response time, as well

         14  as EMS response time, and many of the issues that I

         15  discussed this morning are similar to the issues

         16  that were raised in the testimony at that time in

         17  2005.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, okay, I

         19  recall the testimony with respect to, you know,

         20  again, the fire situation. But, let's look forward,

         21  you know, let's not spend time arguing over history,

         22  at this point, because lives are at stake as we move

         23  forward.  You testified that you were not familiar

         24  with other cities which measured time of arrival to

         25  victim.  Have you studied the process in place in
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          2  the City of Seattle?

          3                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I'm familiar with

          4  Seattle.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Doesn't

          6  Seattle measure, keep time measurements from call to

          7  time of arrival in the case of a cardiac victim?

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe what was

          9  done in Seattle was join a measured study, where

         10  they're looking to, to study one particular types of

         11  victims, cardiac arrest and their ability to reduce

         12  mortality.  It's not on each and every call that

         13  they conduct that information.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  All right,

         15  well let's talk about cardiac arrest situations

         16  then.  Does Seattle measure, keep statistics as to

         17  time of arrival to the victim in cases of cardiac

         18  arrest?

         19                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe the

         20  information that Seattle gathers is information

         21  which is documented on their reports for those

         22  particular calls.  Like we've testified in the past,

         23  that the accuracy of that information may be

         24  somewhat questionable because the ability to

         25  synchronize the information by which our employees
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          2  document their arrival at the scene of the patient,

          3  whether they do it immediately or say, oh, I, what

          4  time did I get here, oh, it was a minute or two ago,

          5  may lead to questionability of its accuracy, since

          6  it would not be necessarily synchronized to the

          7  automated arrival process of our computer- aided

          8  dispatch system.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, so let

         10  me repeat my question, because I don't think you

         11  answered it.  Does Seattle have a process for the

         12  purposes of keeping records to measure time of

         13  arrival of an EMS unit to the victim in cases of

         14  cardiac arrest?  That should be a yes or no answer.

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  And,

         17  does not Seattle have one of the highest of cardiac

         18  arrest survival rates in this country?  Isn't that

         19  the case?

         20                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  As report by

         21  Seattle, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You have any

         23  reason to disbelieve your brethren in the City of

         24  Seattle?  Are they liars?

         25                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  There's many
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          2  different ways that jurisdictions report their

          3  survival rates with regards to patients in cardiac

          4  arrest, whether it's patients who were witnessed to

          5  be in cardiac arrest or not witnessed to be in

          6  cardiac arrest, whether it's a patient who's found

          7  in a cardiac rhythm of a asystole versus ventricular

          8  fibrillation and there are many other aspects of the

          9  Seattle society, which puts them into a very

         10  different position than the demographics here of New

         11  York City.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  Well,

         13  what about Oklahoma City?

         14                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Not familiar with

         15  Oklahoma City, I'm sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  What

         17  about the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania?

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I'm not familiar

         19  with Pennsylvania.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  Well,

         21  maybe this is why you're not familiar with other

         22  cities which measure times of arrival to victims,

         23  because both of those cities, I believe, do, as I

         24  understand Boston does.

         25                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I could state for

                                                            53

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  the record that I believe I'm quite familiar with

          3  the way other large systems measure and calculate

          4  their performance in deployment.  I sit on a

          5  national committee represented by the 49 leaders of

          6  the largest EMS systems in the country and we

          7  discuss information like this on a quite regular

          8  basis.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay and I

         10  don't doubt that.  As I said, I don't, but on this

         11  particular issue, you just said you're not familiar

         12  with the system in Philadelphia.  Let me ask you

         13  this, what is the survival rate of cardiac arrest in

         14  New York City?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe our last

         16  study, which was completed fairly recently, our

         17  Phoenix Study, in which the Fire Commissioner did

         18  hold a press conference, shows that our current

         19  survival rate was just over three percent for

         20  cardiac arrest victims.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And how does

         22  that compare to other large metropolitan areas in

         23  this country?

         24                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe Seattle,

         25  which reports the highest, is somewhere between 15
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          2  and 20 percent.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But you don't

          4  believe Seattle.  So, let me you ask this, according

          5  to the American Heart Association, what is the

          6  necessary time period in which the shock, if you

          7  will, has to be delivered in the case of cardiac

          8  arrest from the onset of cardiac arrest for a

          9  normal, expected, for a reasonable, expected

         10  survival rate?  And, the American Heart Association

         11  has a recommendation of a certain number of minutes

         12  between the onset of cardiac arrest and the delivery

         13  of the shock as the first step in CPR.  What is that

         14  number of minutes?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  American Heart

         16  Association recommends that from the onset of

         17  cardiac arrest to the application of a defibrillator

         18  and the first electrical count as shock should be

         19  five minutes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Five minutes.

         21    Now, I have many buildings in my district that

         22  are, you know, high- rise buildings, as we have

         23  throughout the City.  I mean, I live on the 20th

         24  floor and there are elderly people who live on the

         25  same floor as I do.  Does the Fire Department have
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          2  any way of knowing in my building or in any other

          3  building what the lag time is, how many extra

          4  minutes it takes you to get from the time of arrival

          5  to the front of my building to inside of an

          6  apartment on the 20th floor?

          7                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't believe we

          8  have any definitive measure of that time.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, I don't

         10  believe you do either.  So, isn't that information,

         11  Chief, that you, as Chief, would want to have?  I

         12  mean, really, the purpose of this bill is to help

         13  you help us.

         14                 If we can get you that information,

         15  wouldn't that help you do a better job for us, if

         16  you see that there's one set of development where

         17  consistently you have a, we're talking now where

         18  minutes make the difference between life and death?

         19  Shouldn't you have the benefit of that information,

         20  so either you could, maybe there's a bad elevator

         21  system that's chronically problematic, if you could

         22  make a correction, or maybe you can't, so you have

         23  to locate your unit a little closer so you reduce

         24  the travel time in order to make up for the elevator

         25  time?  Why would you not want that information?
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  We believe that all

          3  residents and visitors to New York City should have

          4  equal access to rapid arrival of Emergency Medical

          5  Services  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Precisely.

          7  So, that's why you need the information, because

          8  people don't live, not everyone lives on the same

          9  floor, not everyone lives in the same type of

         10  building.  It's not just high- rises, it's low- rise

         11  tenement buildings where you have problems maybe

         12  getting into the building because there's nobody in

         13  the front and you have double locks or triple locks.

         14                 So, precisely, to assure that

         15  everyone, I mean, if I'm in a cardiac arrest, I

         16  don't care that you got to the lobby of my building

         17  in a short period of time.  I want to be sure you

         18  can get to me in a quick period of time, as you can

         19  get to everyone.  So, wouldn't this information help

         20  you assure that?

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It's not possible

         22  for us to predict the likelihood of someone on the

         23  20th or 30th or even fifth floor of being in cardiac

         24  arrest, as it would be for someone who's on the

         25  ground floor in front of the building.  To deploy
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          2  additional resources to a community just because

          3  they have high- rise buildings, let's say

          4  residential buildings, that may be vacant during the

          5  day because everyone's at work somewhere else,

          6  clearly would be unjust and unfair to deployment to

          7  other localities.

          8                 We strongly believe that there are

          9  many things with the demographics in New York City

         10  that can help increase survival and reduce morbidity

         11  for individuals who suffer from cardiac arrest.

         12                 As you may be aware, that in April of

         13  2005, we kicked off a community CPR education unit.

         14  I'm proud to announce that, as of now, we have over

         15  12,000 people in New York City, both community

         16  groups and students and high schools that we've

         17  trained in CPR, so they can go home and share that

         18  information with family and friends.

         19                 Because, the American Heart indicates

         20  that in addition to rapid provisions of

         21  defibrillation for those victims who may need a

         22  defibrillation, the most critical important things

         23  to survival is early recognition and activation of

         24  the 9- 1- 1 system, as well as rapid intervention as

         25  CPR.  If CPR is not being performed for two minutes
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          2  or four minutes or six minutes, then it's really

          3  irrelevant at which time the person has an ambulance

          4  arrive to them.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well  --

          6                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  And that's one of

          7  the things  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Well, Chief

          9   --

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  That greatly

         11  differentiates our system and its demographics from

         12  a system like that in Seattle.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Chief, I think

         14  that the, and I'm just   --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, please,

         16  Mr. Chair, go ahead and then I'll wrap it up in a

         17  couple of questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  The intent of

         19  the bill in the Council is not to deploy additional

         20  resources in other neighborhoods or deprive other

         21  neighborhoods of resources.  I think the intent of

         22  the bill is clear in terms of monitoring the time in

         23  which our medical response personnel get to the

         24  actual person.  By doing so, I think it also helps

         25  us, as the legislative body, to work with the
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          2  Department to make sure you have the resources

          3  available.

          4                 For example, having conversations

          5  with the rank and file, most EMS service providers

          6  do not have the keys to the elevators.  Meanwhile,

          7  the Fire Department has it.  So, simple things that,

          8  information that we need to help improve the

          9  services, I think is the intent of the bill in terms

         10  of emergency response time.  Because, when we talk

         11  about the Fire Department, we want to know what time

         12  they get to the actual fire.  When we talk about

         13  servicing an individual that has a medical

         14  emergency, we want to know what time they got to the

         15  actual patient and provided the services needed.

         16                 So, you know, I just wanted to

         17  respond to the issue of whether we're going to be

         18  deploying additional resources to other

         19  neighborhoods or not, I don't think that's the issue

         20  at stake here and the intent of the bill.  Council

         21  Member.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Yes, no, no,

         23  I could not, I could not have said it better, Mr.

         24  Chair.  I think it was actually really disingenuous

         25  of you, Chief, and I don't say that lightly, to
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          2  raise the prospect of short- changing any community

          3  because that, no one in this Council, you know this

          4  very well, is going to stand for that.

          5                 What we may do, and I made it very

          6  clear in my testimony, that we were looking at a

          7  range of issues, including structural improvements,

          8  such as the key issues that the Chair cited, such as

          9  elevator issues and possibly including, if there are

         10  problems, if they're less than fully efficacious

         11  deployments, obviously, you need to know that.

         12                 But, we might, as a result of this

         13  information, need to increase the total number of

         14  EMS units available or expand the units on a City-

         15  wide basis and that is something that, you know, we

         16  might want to do down the line to help your

         17  Department help us.  But, no one, no one is going to

         18  suggest short- changing any community.  It's the

         19  other way around.  There very well may be currently

         20  communities short- changed because of structural

         21  issues and we do not currently, and we do not know

         22  that because we refuse to keep the statistics.

         23                 Now, I agree with you fully that CPR

         24  has to be part of the response.  When I was Chair of

         25  a community board, I initiated a community pilot
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          2  program to deploy state- of- the- art defibrillators

          3  in high- rise buildings and restaurants and

          4  elsewhere.  But, you just testified that New York

          5  City has a three percent survival rate and I happen

          6  to know that is at the low end of survival rates of

          7  urban areas in this country.  I would think we would

          8  try to do everything we can to improve that.

          9                 Now, let me  --

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Might I, might I

         11  make just two points?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Please.

         13                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  One with reference

         14  to statements made by Councilman Martinez  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm, please.

         16                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  With regards to

         17  keys and why elevator keys are deployed to

         18  firefighters and not EMS personnel? Again, not being

         19  a firefighter or fire officer, and thereby not being

         20  intimately familiar with firemen service on the

         21  elevator, in order for that to work properly, it

         22  needs to be two persons. One remaining at the lobby

         23  level and one in the elevator and clearly our

         24  ambulance personnel are just a two- person crew.

         25  Therefore, firemen emergency service with keys is
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          2  not something that, at this point in time, is

          3  practicably feasible for us to give to EMS

          4  personnel.

          5                 Secondly, it's important to note that

          6  on all calls concerning cardiac arrest, which I

          7  believe is the population that we're focusing on

          8  now, the individual needs the most rapid EMS

          9  response and  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  There are

         11  other situations, as you know, requiring rapid

         12  response of this, profuse bleeding, where someone is

         13  imminent danger of bleeding to death, if there was a

         14  situation of a poison, certain kinds of poisons

         15  where minutes make, we're talking about situations

         16  where minutes make a difference and cardiac arrest

         17  is the chief example of that.  But, I don't want to

         18  give anyone the impression that it's the only

         19  example.  But, please proceed.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And also,

         21  Chief, it was just as an example.  I can give you

         22  many examples why the information is so critical and

         23  needed.  You know, when we talk about the public

         24  housing, for example, in my particular district, the

         25  Dikeman Houses, it is impossible, before, ambulance

                                                            63

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  were able to drive up to the building and go up.

          3                 Now, we have the barricades that

          4  don't allow any type of vehicles and in addition to

          5  having to walk there, not only does EMS personnel

          6  have to carry how many pounds of equipment to go up

          7  to the buildings and so forth.  So, the objective of

          8  the bill is not, you know, to pinpoint on any issue,

          9  whether it's protocol or not, but rather to track

         10  time to help us better serve and get faster where

         11  the emergency, it's needed, where the individual is

         12  needed.

         13                 I think that the intent of the bill

         14  and the Council is, we need to get the information.

         15  We get information from the Department, when we

         16  merged both departments.  I believe we have to set

         17  the same kind of standards for the entire Department

         18  and not a standard for one and another standard for

         19  the other in terms of responding emergencies.  In

         20  this case, it's clear that when we talk about the

         21  Fire Department, yes, we want our fire personnel to

         22  get to the fire as quickly as possible.

         23                 When it comes to EMS services, I

         24  believe, we don't want to know what time you got to

         25  the building, but when you actually attended to the
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          2  patient in need.  I think that there's a clear

          3  distinction there and I think that we need to set

          4  the standard clear across the board for one

          5  department in terms of responding to emergencies.

          6                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe I'm fully

          7  cognizant with regards to what the bill is asking us

          8  to do.  I just restate that we believe we cannot

          9  accurately, reliably and automatically collect the

         10  data at which time the ambulance crew arrives at the

         11  patient's side at this time.

         12                 Furthermore, when we compare our

         13  performance to other EMS systems, we now do it in a

         14  method very similar to what the national standard is

         15  and what other systems do throughout the country.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Chief, I'm

         17  going to make a comment and then one final question.

         18    Because, you know, I don't know how proceed fully

         19  with questioning when the testimony you're giving is

         20  so fundamentally contrary to experience and both

         21  experience reported to us by the field and by other

         22  cities.  So, let me make two points.

         23                 First of all, in terms of the

         24  technical apparatus, is it your testimony that the

         25  Department doesn't have it or that it doesn't exist?
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          2    I would hope it's the former, because you can't,

          3  any high school student who is adept on technology

          4  now knows that, knows very well that, you know, we

          5  have the technology so that when an EMS crew arrives

          6  at the victim without wasting any time and they have

          7  two, they just have, you know, click a button and

          8  that it will record the time that they are there.

          9  So, you can, and that's less time than what they do

         10  now, you know, in terms of the radioing and

         11  verifying.  So, the technology is out there and is

         12  actually used by a bunch of other cities.

         13                 So, is it your testimony that the

         14  Department lacks the equipment to implement that

         15  technology?  Is that what you're telling us?  At

         16  which case, maybe we have to get you the equipment.

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  My testimony is that

         18  currently we do not possess the technology  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  We, the

         20  Department, not we the world.

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  We, the Department,

         22   --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.

         24                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  Not currently

         25  possess the technology to automatically collect this
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          2  data, so that it could be implanted into our

          3  statistical system thereby  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You know how

          5  expensive it would be to get you this technology?

          6                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I do not have  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That should

          8   --

          9                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  That  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  Be

         11  something we should look into maybe.  Then, that's

         12  an important clarification.

         13                 The other point.  I just want to, I

         14  count one, two, three, four, five, six, seven,

         15  eight, nine, I count at least nine cities, possibly

         16  ten, which currently track time to arrival to the

         17  victim.  All of those cities report a, including the

         18  Seattle example, which you cited, and the

         19  Philadelphia example of which you're not familiar,

         20  but they all report a, well, Philadelphia situation

         21  may be a little, let me rephrase that, because

         22  they're different statistics, I want to be accurate.

         23                 They all measure time to arrival to

         24  the victim and none of them have a lower, report a

         25  lower survival rate than the three percent that we
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          2  have and most, if not all, I'd have to examine the

          3  statistics, report a significantly higher survival

          4  rate than the three percent that we report.  So, it

          5  strikes me that that's more than a coincidence.

          6                 So, let me ask you this, I, earlier,

          7  in my opening remark, with that as a predicate, let

          8  me ask you this.  In my opening remarks, I expressed

          9  our intent to propose a slight amendment to the

         10  bill, which would keep the content  --  and we can

         11  make, you know, some of the technical adjustments

         12  that you cited, you know, to be necessary  --  and

         13  implement it as an 18 month pilot program, wherein

         14   --  which could be City- wide or in select areas

         15  and we can work that out  --  but an 18- month pilot

         16  program where you continue to report as you

         17  currently do, but you also, you know, do the click

         18  to report time of arrival to victim. In that forum,

         19  would that be acceptable to you and the Department?

         20                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Might I just comment

         21  with regards to the survival rates and time to

         22  arrival of the patient, as reported in the studies

         23  from the previous nine cities.  Again, the survival

         24  rate as to which population of victims they report

         25  may or may not be similar to the victims that were

                                                            68

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  studied during the New York City Phoenix Study.

          3                 Also, I don't have all the different

          4  abstracts conducted from the Phoenix Study, but I am

          5  familiar with one portion of an abstract, which I

          6  did read and did not have the ability to study all

          7  the data.  But, during the Phoenix Study, which was

          8  a one- year study conducted by the Fire Department's

          9  Medical Affairs, there was a period during that time

         10  where a third individual was placed on every

         11  ambulance and calculated not only response time from

         12  the same source, but also the time at which they

         13  arrived at the patient's side and then the time that

         14  defibrillation was applied, et cetera.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  This is in

         16  New York?

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  That's correct.

         18  Although I  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You have a

         20  third person, you do this now universally?

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  No, this was done, a

         22  third person, non- medical provider, was placed on

         23  the ambulance for a short period of time during the

         24  one- year Phoenix Study.  What the --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In how many
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          2  ambulances?

          3                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't have that

          4  information.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In how many

          6  atoms?

          7                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It was City- wide.

          8  What I'm saying is that  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In every

         10  atom?

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It was ambulances

         12  City- wide.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But not in

         14  every atom.

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Well, we don't have

         16  an ambulance in every atom.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  In

         18  every district?

         19                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Throughout the City,

         20  there was a --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Was it a,

         22  okay, go ahead. Well, you'll  --

         23                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  Get us

         25  the details.
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't have the

          3  particulars, but what that did show, and, again, it

          4  was a small window during this study that they,

          5  these impartial personnel on the ambulance just

          6  recording the times from when the ambulance was

          7  assigned to when the ambulance got curbside, to when

          8  patient contact was made, et cetera, separate and

          9  independent than our automated system on the CAD, so

         10  that all the times would be self- synchronized with

         11  themselves.

         12                 What that information showed is that,

         13  City- wide, the average response from when an

         14  ambulance arrived curbside until patient contact was

         15  made was about two and a half minutes. For a high-

         16  rise building, the average time it took us to reach

         17  the patient from the point in which we got into the

         18  lobby of the building and access to the area where

         19  the elevator was, was, on average, 50 seconds.

         20                 So, you know, if we got to the front

         21  of a high rise building and it took us 20 seconds to

         22  get inside the building, it only took us another 50

         23  seconds to get outside, whereas, maybe it's not a

         24  high- rise building and it would take us two minutes

         25  to get into the building and then only 30 seconds
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          2  upstairs.  What I'm saying is the average  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Chief, I

          4  wasn't, this is not a pilot program directed to

          5  high- rise buildings.  I specifically cited the

          6  examples of tenements where there are a lot of

          7  accessibility problems.  If we did a pilot program,

          8  one of the criteria would be that it would have to

          9  involve a cross, if not the entire City, a cross-

         10  section of the City involving all types of

         11  buildings.

         12                 So, this bill, and if you read the

         13  language of the bill, there's no reference at all to

         14  high- rises or low- rises. The reference is to

         15  getting information to time of arrival to the victim

         16  period.  My question to you, for which I'd like an

         17  answer, is if we did it in a form of an 18- month

         18  pilot program, would you work with us on that?

         19                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I think if we had

         20  the ability to accurately and automatically and

         21  reliably collect the data, I'm not sure that we

         22  would necessarily be opposed to a pilot.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I think we've

         24  just made some progress, Mr. Chair, though I hope

         25  so.  Time will tell.  I appreciate that.  It's

                                                            72

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  probably a good place for me to wind up.  I'll just

          3  say, for now, in conclusion on this, that I'm

          4  totally confident the technology, the state of

          5  technology exists and it's just a question of

          6  getting it to the Department.  So, let's work on

          7  that.  Let's work on getting it going.

          8                 With respect to what you testified to

          9  earlier, we all know statistics can be manipulated,

         10  whether it's Seattle or Philadelphia or New York,

         11  and that leaves me to, you know, be concerned that

         12  the three percent figure might even be overstated.

         13  But, the point is  --  of survival rate  --  but,

         14  the point is, wherever it is, we need to do better

         15  and we should and we know doing better, our first

         16  step to doing better is information, because that

         17  will prompt the proper allocation of support and

         18  resources and that's what this is all about.

         19                 So, I appreciate your willingness to

         20  entertain this and let's work on getting you the

         21  technology.  I know we've been joined by other

         22  colleagues, so I want to turn the mic back to the

         23  Chair.  I'll reserve the necessary right to question

         24  on the other Intros. Down the line.  Thank you very

         25  much Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

          3  Councilman. Chief, before I call on Council Member

          4  Vacca, who has a question and followed by Council

          5  Member Sanders, I just want to go back to Intro.

          6  278, in which you highlighted several details in the

          7  terms of the language.  I want to excuse Council

          8  Member Clarke, who, unfortunately, well, not

          9  unfortunately, fortunately, is not here with us.

         10  She's somewhere in Washington.  With respect to the

         11  language in terms of the use of the word battalion

         12  and station, I will be, the Committee will be

         13  reaching out to you to see how we could amend or fix

         14  the language used, based on the information at the

         15  time that Council Member Clarke shared with the

         16  Committee when she first presented this Intro.

         17  Council Member Vacca.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you Mr.

         19  Chair.  I first want to say that my colleague, Alan

         20  Gerson, by summing up with you, really did what I

         21  was going to do, because even though it appeared all

         22  morning we were so far away, when I read your

         23  testimony and looked at our suggestions, I just

         24  thought we were very near it.  We're very near it

         25  because when you use sectors within NYPD, you really
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          2  are looking at blocks and if we can give you the

          3  technology for a program like this, I think we're

          4  very near agreement.

          5                 My only question that involves Intro.

          6  278 and I wanted to discuss that with you because

          7  EMS is now part of the Fire Department.  So, if we

          8  have legislation already on the books for several

          9  years now that requires that the Council be advised

         10  of Fire Department closings, am I to believe that

         11  you are interpreting that that legislation does not

         12  cover EMS at this time, even though EMS is now under

         13  Fire?

         14                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I believe the

         15  legislation that exists to the Fire Department is

         16  regards to closing and, either closing and/or

         17  relocating a fire house.

         18                 The significant difference between

         19  the way the Fire Department deploys and utilizes its

         20  firefighting apparatus and EMS apparatus is that the

         21  fire house is the location where that fire engine or

         22  truck or other specialty resource sits while

         23  awaiting its assignment and the location from which

         24  it responds to its calls and then returns to its

         25  calls when those calls are completed.
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          2                 With regards to ambulance stations,

          3  as stated in the testimony, this is the location

          4  where our ambulance personnel change tour, where

          5  they restock their ambulance, where they clean their

          6  ambulance.  The location where which they actually

          7  respond to assignments and return when those

          8  assignments are completed, is not the physical

          9  station, but various street corners throughout the

         10  City.

         11                 So, whether an ambulance station,

         12  let's say, was on Lexington Avenue and 53rd Street

         13  or Park Avenue and 48th Street, that wouldn't affect

         14  our ability to respond, because no ambulance

         15  actually responds to calls from that station.  Their

         16  street corners would virtually remain unchanged.

         17  Whereas, if you change the location of the

         18  firehouse, you change the actual location from which

         19  the apparatus responds and that would in, affect its

         20  performance.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Now, my

         22  understanding is you're not opposed, though, to 278.

         23    You have concerns regarding the wording of this

         24  bill?  Is that where you're at?

         25                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Just briefly,

          3  what would be your concern about prior notification

          4  to the Council?  You know, to me, this is great,

          5  prior notification.  It doesn't mean that we're

          6  going to legally be able to stop the City from

          7  closing an EMS station, which is what I would like

          8  to do, to be honest.  I mean, I had, in the Bronx,

          9  the Woodlawn Fire House was closed and I think that

         10  was a very unjust act and we were not able to stop

         11  it.  But, here, we're talking about simply letting

         12  the community board, the borough president and the

         13  Council know.  So, what technical issues are here

         14  for your agency?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Well, first of all,

         16  I think the Administration and the Fire Department

         17  has proven, not only to the Council but to the City,

         18  that we're definitely committed in improving the

         19  effectiveness and reliability to deliver emergency

         20  medical services.

         21                 It should be noted that at the time

         22  the Fire Department, EMS was merged into the Fire

         23  Department, we had 15 ambulance stations City- wide

         24  and, presently, with the ribbon cutting that took

         25  place last week, we have 32 ambulance stations. So,
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          2  we've vastly improved the number of facilities by

          3  which ambulances respond.  That has played a very

          4  important role in improving our ability to deliver

          5  rapid ambulance service, because when those

          6  ambulances can deploy from and restock and fuel from

          7  a larger amount of facilities, clearly, the time

          8  wasted in between traveling to and from their cross-

          9  streets is significantly reduced.

         10                 I think the concern with the bill

         11  would be the 45 day required notice for the Fire

         12  Department's decision to move an ambulance, let's

         13  say from one particular intersection to another

         14  intersection.  Ambulance, the way ambulances are

         15  assigned to calls varies significantly, or I should

         16  say differs significantly than the way fire

         17  apparatus are deployed to assignments.

         18                 Firefighting apparatus have a first

         19  due and a second due, et cetera, response area, so

         20  they know where they're expected to be assigned for

         21  different types of alarms.  Ambulance crews or EMS

         22  crews don't have that knowledge.  Although,

         23  generally, they're assigned to cover a particular

         24  community and sit on a particular corner, unlike a

         25  fire company, which would go from its fire station

                                                            78

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  to fight a fire within its response area and then

          3  return, you know, an ambulance crew would leave its

          4  street corner, respond to an emergency medical

          5  incident and then maybe transport that individual,

          6  that victim, to a hospital not anywhere within its

          7  normal area.

          8                 Yet, when it leaves that hospital,

          9  especially today with the introduction of our GPS

         10  and AVL positioning, we know where that ambulance is

         11  at all times.  So, we may assign it to a call

         12  outside of its primary area, because it's available

         13  and closer to a victim who is suffering a potential

         14  life threatening emergency.

         15                 We constantly evaluate the

         16  performance throughout the City, both like we

         17  mentioned earlier, on a City- wide, a borough and

         18  then even a more precise geographic definition.  We

         19  try to equalize performance throughout the City to

         20  respond, especially to our life- threatening

         21  emergencies, as best possible. Because our system of

         22  deployment and further assigning ambulances is very

         23  dynamic, any delay in allowing us to move an

         24  ambulance from one intersection maybe to another

         25  intersection, based upon a trend or a situation,
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          2  could thereby affect our ability to properly respond

          3  as efficiently as we would like to, to that

          4  particular community.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I think your

          6  remarks do not negate the fact that there could be a

          7  notification bill that you would agree to at a

          8  certain point?

          9                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I would like

         11  that.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         13  Council Member. I, again, we will be reaching out to

         14  you, Chief, to discuss further 278 and the language

         15  and some issues in terms of a better understanding.

         16  Because, listening from your testimony, and the

         17  impact of, you know, I understand the difference

         18  between the way the Fire Department functions and

         19  the way the ambulances function in the stations.

         20  But, you know, if we close down a station, that

         21  ambulance needs to go back after being deployed to

         22  re- equip or for cleaning, or whatever, depending on

         23  what it is, and the consequences of, you know, the

         24  time concern when they do that. But, we'll

         25  definitely be reaching out to discuss further that
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          2  particular bill.  I want to call on Council Member

          3  James Sanders.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

          5  very much Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, I guess, is

          6  proper, or close to being proper, to everyone.  I

          7  want to make some quick statements about Intro. 134.

          8    I will make them quick because I, we have lost one

          9  witness and I'm sure there are other people that we

         10  will miss.

         11                 Now, Intro. 134, of course, is for

         12  the transportation for what is known as the morbidly

         13  obese.  I want to make sure that all New Yorkers

         14  have a safe and effective way of getting to and from

         15  hospitals.

         16                 The issue to me is a question of

         17  simple justice. Are we going to have a class of

         18  people who are neglected and told that they must

         19  either get there the best way they can or ride on

         20  the bottom or back of a car or vehicle on the

         21  bottom, on the floor of a vehicle or are we going to

         22  provide a safe and secure way of making sure that

         23  they, too, can be treated as New Yorkers in the

         24  grand fashion that we New Yorkers should be treated?

         25                 Now, I'm reading in some of your
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          2  information that the Fire Department says that they

          3  do have an adequate way of doing this.  I see it

          4  says that they're equipped with stretchers that can

          5  carry up to 700 pounds when raised or 1,100 pounds

          6  when lowered.  Now that question of lowered is the

          7  question that I have, does that it mean it's on the

          8  floor?  Are we saying the same thing that it's on

          9  the floor of an ambulance?

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  The stretchers which

         11  are used on the ambulances have the ability to be in

         12  two positions.  One is in it's lowest position,

         13  where the cot section of the stretcher is resting on

         14  the wheelbase and therefore  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Okay, so it

         16  is the floor.

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  No, it could be

         18  rolled along the street.  The second way that that

         19   --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Okay.

         21                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  Stretcher could

         22  be utilized is lifted so that you see like the x of

         23  the legs supporting the stretcher in its elevated

         24  position.  Because when it's elevated, it's resting

         25  only on four angled legs, it has less stability and
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          2  less weight bearing than when it's in its lowered

          3  position rolled along the floor.

          4                 Depending on the terrain and the

          5  location, ambulance crews may opt to move a victim

          6  with the stretcher either being in the elevated

          7  position or in the lowered position. Most instances,

          8  on the scene of an emergency, the ambulance crew

          9  would move the patient from the scene to the

         10  ambulance with the stretcher in its lowest position.

         11    The only times we always keep the stretcher in its

         12  elevated position, for the most part, would be when

         13  transferring the person from the ambulance into the

         14  emergency department, so that when you arrive to

         15  present your patient to the emergency department,

         16  they're at eye level, not at ground level.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Okay.  Now,

         18  New York City sadly has some roads that we all will

         19  admit needs better maintenance.  We're still working

         20  on it, God willing.  Our ambulances are very worthy

         21  vehicles, but the shocks in our ambulances, if we

         22  all have our way, I'm sure, we will work and may

         23  them even better.

         24                 Now, that being said, the closer you

         25  are to the floor of an ambulance, the more you're

                                                            83

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  going to feel every bump and hit that you're taking.

          3    Under those conditions, if this is true, a person

          4  who is already sick, who is already ill, or in a

          5  perhaps life- threatening condition, is forced to

          6  deal with things that another person, another

          7  citizen does not have to.  I believe that there are

          8  devices, there are other stretchers or ambulances

          9  that can deal with this.  If this is true, then why

         10  don't we just do that?

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I think it's

         12  important to note that when we talk about the

         13  ambulance stretcher being at its lowest position.

         14  That is the only way that a patient could be

         15  transported in the ambulance, with that stretcher in

         16  the lowest position.  It's not feasible nor is it

         17  safe, nor would it be approved by any organization,

         18  including the ambulance and/or stretcher

         19  manufacturers, to transport a victim with the

         20  stretcher in the elevated position when in the back

         21  of the ambulance.  It would be significantly

         22  unstable and present a danger not only to the

         23  patient, but the crew members as well as any family,

         24  friends or others who may be riding in the back of

         25  the ambulance.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Later in

          3  this dialogue, sir, you may hear information that

          4  there are ambulances that are able to transport this

          5  population in a safe and secure way.  But, we will,

          6  God willing, we will all be enlightened as this

          7  continues.  We'll also hear anecdotal evidence and

          8  other evidence of people who have actually had to go

          9  through this ordeal.  But, I look forward to that in

         10  conversation and I'm going to stop here, Mr. Chair,

         11  so that we can get to witnesses and people who can

         12  speak further on this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         14  Council Member. Chief, how many HazTac ambulances is

         15  the Department getting ready to purchase and why?

         16                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  There's a bid

         17  specification being developed to purchase 40

         18  ambulances that they're a custom design for our

         19  HazTac ambulances.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Can you tell

         21  us what is HazTac?

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  We believe the

         23  Council may be familiar, but I will reiterate that a

         24  portion of our emergency ambulance fleet, presently

         25  35 units, each tour that operates have EMTs and/or
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          2  paramedics that are trained to HazMat Technician

          3  Level Two.  Which, thereby, allows them to operate

          4  in highly contaminated environments wearing

          5  appropriate protective equipment, like self-

          6  contained breathing apparatus and fully encapsulated

          7  suits, so that they can not only render emergency

          8  care and treatment to victims in those environments,

          9  but also maintain to be a vital part of the HazMat

         10  unit response, so that they can provide treatment

         11  and/or evaluation of other emergency providers going

         12  to work in these contaminated environments.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  How often do

         14  you respond to one of these calls?

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't have those

         16  numbers, but you know  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Would you say

         18  frequent, often  --

         19                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Frequently.  I would

         20  say that frequently there are assignments throughout

         21  the City where it's questionable that there may be a

         22  contaminated environment or we'd want to put

         23  emergency responder personnel into that environment

         24  to have the appropriate protective equipment to

         25  handle a situation.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  How often do

          3  you get a call to attend to an emergency medical

          4  condition of an individual over 500 pounds or more?

          5                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I don't, I don't

          6  have that information.  We believe that the number

          7  of instances where we have someone who may be over

          8  500 pounds is not frequent.  We attempted to secure

          9  that information in preparation for today by

         10  querying information off of our electronic PCR

         11  system  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Do the, I'm

         13  sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you there, the way

         14  to gather that information, does the personnel

         15  report to the dispatch or how would you get that

         16  information, does the patient report?

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  If an ambulance crew

         18  encounters a patient which they believe that they

         19  cannot safely and appropriately move from the scene

         20  to their ambulance, they would request assistance,

         21  say, with a lift or a carry.  They wouldn't

         22  necessarily say we have a 300- pound patient or a

         23  500- pound patient.

         24                 Currently, the directive we have out

         25  there reiterates the guidelines of the New York

                                                            87

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  State Health Department and the EMTs' and the

          3  paramedics' ability to carry someone 125 pounds

          4  unassisted or 250 as a team.  But, we do allow them,

          5  under the current procedures, to request assistance

          6  if they have someone who, say, is 200 pounds, who

          7  they should be able to carry as a team, where

          8  there's an unusual circumstance.

          9                 Say they're on the third floor, they

         10  need to be carried down flat and it's a spiral

         11  staircase and in order to safely do that, they would

         12  need more than just the two of them. Or, if they

         13  have someone who's on the first floor and has to go

         14  straight out that's, say, 350 pounds, which exceeds

         15  what the expectation of them are, in order to ensure

         16  the safety of the patient and prevent injury for

         17  themselves, that's an example that's given to them

         18  as a time where they should call for assistance.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You know, when

         20  you do get that information that you requested, can

         21  you please share that with the Committee?

         22                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Like I said, we, we

         23  attempted to collect information from our Electronic

         24  Patient Call reporting. One of the, one of the

         25  pieces of information of that report is what the
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          2  crew believes the weight of the patient is or what

          3  the patient reports their weight as being.  However,

          4  that's not something that we were able to extract

          5  and we're going to continue to try to work on that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Is it a

          7  question when, for example, when we call 9- 1- 1,

          8  does the operator, just as they ask, what are you

          9  feeling, what is your condition, do they ask the

         10  weight of the patient?

         11                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I can't testify as

         12  what information may be secured from the caller from

         13  the initial 9- 1- 1 operator, whose an employee of

         14  the NYPD.  But, our dispatch personnel and emergency

         15  medical dispatch do not question the patient as to

         16  their weight when trying to define what the nature

         17  of the emergency is.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  For my

         19  benefit, you lost me there.  If I call 9- 1- 1 and I

         20  tell them I have a medical condition.  I initially

         21  speak to the 9- 1- 1 operator, she gathers or he

         22  gathers the information and then forwards that to

         23  the EMS dispatch?

         24                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  The 9- 1- 1 operator

         25  would collect some information from you, like your

                                                            89

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  location, the reason that you're calling and I'm not

          3  sure what other information that they do solicit or

          4  collect.  But, once it's determined that the nature

          5  of the call is for a medical emergency, that caller

          6  is transferred over to an alarm receipt dispatcher

          7  in the Fire Department's emergency medical dispatch

          8  center, where then we have some information which is

          9  electronically transmitted to us from the police,

         10  you know, address, location or caller phone number

         11  with the automatic information.  Then, we begin a

         12  series of emergency medical questioning that helps

         13  us determine what the nature of the emergency is  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And during

         15  that questioning, you don't know if they ask the

         16  weight of the patient.

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  We do not ask the

         18  weight of the patient.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You don't ask

         20  the weight of the patient.  The reason I ask, you

         21  know, I keep making references to other issues,

         22  similar to in terms of gathering information.  The

         23  issue of providing transportation to the disabled,

         24  wheelchair- bound, you know, comes about because we

         25  didn't have enough information until we started
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          2  recording it and people were saying, well, there was

          3  no need for more cabs that are accessible, but when

          4  we look at the information, there is. So, I'm

          5  wondering if we have the same situation here, where

          6  we need to start gathering that type of information

          7  to make sure we have the services available.

          8                 However, in your testimony, you make

          9  reference particularly to the fact that, and it is a

         10  major improvement, to the stretcher and the capacity

         11  in terms of the weight that it could handle.  But,

         12  the other issue is also the fact that once we have

         13  the patient, you know, accommodating the patient

         14  into the actual ambulance to transport the patient

         15  to the hospital.

         16                 The reason I bring up the HazTac

         17  ambulances, and you correct me if I'm wrong,

         18  wouldn't this be an ideal opportunity in the

         19  specification that we're looking for for these

         20  ambulances?  Because, I might be wrong again, when

         21  we're talking about these ambulances, we want more

         22  compartments, so that we could put the different

         23  equipment that we need to meet the specs. For those

         24  equipment.

         25                 Now, however, when we're talking
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          2  about the box, can we make that box wider in an

          3  incident, where, as you mentioned, where we don't

          4  have as often, these calls coming in to mobilize

          5  individuals in this situation?  But, if we do have

          6  the ambulances available and they're not responding

          7  to a hazardous condition, have those, deploy those

          8  ambulances there to take care of that incident?

          9  We're talking about 30 ambulances, right?

         10                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  40.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  40.  Wouldn't

         12  that make sense in terms of addressing the need?

         13                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  With regard to the

         14  specification being developed for a HazTac

         15  ambulance, clearly, the drive behind that is to

         16  allow those HazTac ambulance crews to carry with

         17  them, at all times, all of the necessary equipment

         18  that they would need to efficiently and effectively

         19  and promptly operate in a contaminated environment.

         20                 Currently, today, they do not carry

         21  all the equipment they need with them because of the

         22  space limitation on their vehicle.  Some of their

         23  additional equipment is carried by supervisor units.

         24    With, as to specifics, the ambulance which is

         25  being designed for HazTac is 34 inches in length
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          2  longer than our current ambulance, but not even a

          3  half an inch wider.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Why not?

          5                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Our ambulance is

          6  quite wide as it is and we believe that, and this is

          7  over years of developing ambulances, that an

          8  ambulance any wider, and they do come just slightly

          9  wider, would significantly impact our ability to

         10  promptly respond within all areas of the City.  We

         11  see the traffic, we see the double parked vehicles

         12  and we have tremendous difficulties each and every

         13  day in maneuvering these quite large ambulances

         14  throughout the City streets.

         15                 It should be noted that every

         16  ambulance owned and operated by the Fire Department

         17  is a, is a truck front ambulance, truck chassis

         18  ambulance, with a large box module on the back

         19  referred to as a Type One ambulance.  A majority of

         20  the ambulances that operate within the 9- 1- 1

         21  system from our participants from the hospital, some

         22  are Type One ambulances, but the majority are either

         23  Type Two or Type Three ambulances.

         24                 The difference being a Type Two is

         25  strictly a van, which is much more smaller and
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          2  narrower in the patient carrying area and the Type

          3  Three is a van front with a module back. Again, you

          4  know, anecdotally, there is information about

          5  individuals who have had difficulty in being

          6  transported.  We do not have any indication, after

          7  review of our unusual occurrence reports, of any

          8  situations in the last three years where we had

          9  someone who we were unable transport.

         10                 We believe that our vehicles allow us

         11  to properly and appropriately transport anyone

         12  because our equipment allows for that.  I can't say

         13  the same unequivocally for other ambulance services

         14  that may operate outside of the 9- 1- 1 arena

         15  because many of them may use smaller vehicles or

         16  different stretcher equipment.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Chief, so,

         18  you're telling me that if you have a hypothetical

         19  incident where you have a patient  --  and I want to

         20  move this forward because I know we have some

         21  witnesses  --  if you have a patient that you're

         22  only able to transport from the building or from the

         23  location where the patient is at to the ambulance,

         24  you said what's the maximum weight when it's

         25  lowered?
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  1,100 pounds.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  If you have an

          4  1,100- pound patient, that patient would be, would

          5  fit comfortably, and ambulances are usually not

          6  comfortable, but you wouldn't have a problem getting

          7  that patient into the current size and width of the

          8  ambulance that you currently have now?

          9                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  The ambulances

         10  operated by the Fire Department, I don't believe, we

         11  currently have difficulty in getting an 1,100- pound

         12  patient on the stretcher into that vehicle.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Would not

         14  have.

         15                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Would not have.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, there's no

         17  need to get wider vehicles?

         18                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  We believe that a

         19  wider vehicle would impact negatively on our ability

         20  to respond promptly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Council Member

         22  Gerson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  With your

         24  permission, I'm going to defer to Council Member

         25  Sanders?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Sure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thanks.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Chief, you

          5  were saying that you believe that the ambulances

          6  themselves, if made any wider, would be a problem

          7  and perhaps a hazard?  Yet, our fire trucks are

          8  wider and they seem to navigate these City streets

          9  with an amazing ease, perhaps not as fast as we

         10  would like and perhaps not with the drivers not

         11  being as courteous as we would like them to be, but

         12  they seem to go in every street that New York City

         13  has.

         14                 If the width of the fire trucks

         15  doesn't seem to be a problem, then surely we're

         16  looking at an opportunity here where we can take our

         17  HazMat trucks and make them a little wider, which

         18  still would be under the width of a fire truck and

         19  therefore serve this population.

         20                 If you already have an order, you

         21  have a way of doing it with very, very limited cost

         22  to the City.  And, let's be clear, we say that the

         23  need, we have not documented the need to say that it

         24  happens often, but HazMat trucks are not called out

         25  very often either.  Under those conditions, you can
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          2  have both of these things, the HazMat truck can be

          3  used and besides, that space that we're talking

          4  about, HazMat trucks have to be, you can make them

          5  longer certainly, but you're trying to put more

          6  things in the truck.  Doing it in a, and the

          7  question of width will do the same thing.

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Again, just a point

          9  of information.  Our HazTac ambulances do not

         10  respond only to incidents regarding hazardous

         11  materials  --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Good.

         13                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  Those are on the

         14  line 9- 1- 1 ambulances and they respond to routine,

         15  regular 9- 1- 1 assignments each  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Good.

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  And every day.

         18  As far as, again, the width of the vehicle, we're

         19  confident that the existing vehicles we have have

         20  more than sufficient space in the back of them to

         21  safely and efficiently transport any victim.  We

         22  have not incurred any problems with the width of our

         23  vehicle.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Well, you're

         25  about to hear from some witnesses who have some
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          2  complaints, sir.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Chief, again,

          4  I just want to be clear then and we need to move on.

          5    The issue of the HazMat, so I can have an idea,

          6  we're talking about an ambulance that would have

          7  larger compartments, is that right?

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  No, that has an

          9  additional 34 inches in length, where the additional

         10  compartment storage space for their necessary

         11  equipment to perform their secondary function would

         12  be located.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct.  So,

         14  that does not mean that we're going to have

         15  additional equipment inside the ambulance taking up

         16  the space.

         17                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It will not impact

         18  on the space that's available inside the current

         19  module.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct.  So,

         21  I mean, you know, in the City of New York, where I

         22  think every other week we see the Health

         23  Commissioner talk about the issue of obesity and the

         24  problem that we have in the City of New York.  For

         25  us not take the advantage of the fact that, first
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          2  recognizing that we have a problem and we need to

          3  attend those citizens that may have medical

          4  emergencies, when we respond to them, for us not

          5  take advantage of the fact that we're getting 40 new

          6  ambulances, that may be longer, but not wider, I

          7  think is a lost opportunity for us to be ready to

          8  respond to those calls that may be coming in.

          9                 Again, since we don't have the data

         10  in terms of the number of calls we get from the

         11  citizens, we can't assume that they're not needed.

         12  I don't think that we have, I don't think that you

         13  provided us with the data also to convince, at least

         14  me, that the current ambulances that we have are

         15  capable of transporting these citizens.  They might

         16  be able to do it.  Is it the proper environment or

         17  the right way to do it?  That's also questionable.

         18                 I mean, I had a four- door Toyota and

         19  I had just moved plenty of stuff from one apartment

         20  to the other.  Is it the right vehicle to do it?

         21  No, but everything fit.  I think that's the question

         22  here.  How do we get the right equipment to, with

         23  dignity, move citizens of the City of New York that

         24  may have medical conditions that require the space

         25  for them to be transported to the hospital?
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          2                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I'd like the

          3  Committee to note that the 40 HazTac ambulances

          4  which are being developed are on a slightly

          5  different ambulance chassis than the one currently

          6  being utilized for our emergency  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Weaker?

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  It, currently we're

          9  using F350 chassis and the new chassis is an F450,

         10  because the additional length requires a longer

         11  wheel- base and a heavier capacity because of the

         12  additional equipment that's, that's going to be in

         13  the vehicle.

         14                 When we began the process of

         15  developing a bid specification for these unique

         16  ambulance vehicles, we did look at many of the road

         17  rescue type of very large vehicles that often you

         18  see suburban fire or ambulance services use, like,

         19  big truck fronts with these giant boxes and the

         20  overall interior capacity was the same.

         21                 We looked at four different

         22  manufacturers of vehicles.  The overall interior

         23  capacity was the same.  The most substantial

         24  difference was the overall gross weight carrying

         25  capacity because those vehicles often carry
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          2  generators and hydraulic tools, et cetera.

          3                 The overall width of the vehicle, I

          4  believe the widest one we looked at was maybe two

          5  inches wider than what our current ambulance would

          6  be, yet the interior capacity was not, not any

          7  larger.  So, yeah, there are larger vehicles as far

          8  as width and/or length and/or chassis, but none that

          9  we've seen that provide any additional capacity.  We

         10  just  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  That includes

         12  some of the ones that I  --  and I really need to

         13  wrap up  --  some of the ones that we've seen in the

         14  private sector that are pretty wide. They look more,

         15  sort of like a heavy- set kind of truck looking?

         16                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  That's correct and

         17  those are the types of vehicles  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Two inches

         19  difference  --

         20                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  --  That we looked

         21  at  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  -- That's what

         23  you're saying?

         24

         25                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  If it's two inches
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          2  on the width or maybe it was two inches on each

          3  side, but the interior capacity was not different.

          4  The most substantial difference is a lot of these

          5  have hydraulic lifts or overhead lifts and, again,

          6  we have a victim who far exceeds the capabilities of

          7  our EMS personnel to properly, properly lift and/or

          8  carry or move the vehicle (sic), current procedures

          9  recall them to request assistance and that

         10  assistance will be either additional ambulance

         11  personnel or local fire companies.  Like I said, we

         12  do not have  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  But time is

         14  lost under those conditions and a life may be in the

         15  balance while this is being done.  Sorry, Mr. Chair,

         16  I  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  That's okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  --  I

         19  apologize.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Finally, do

         21  you know how many people we have over 350 pounds in

         22  the City of New York?

         23                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  I, unfortunately, do

         24  not know that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I, seeing I
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          2  have no more, you have a question, Councilman?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Just  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I'm sorry

          5  Council Member, I need to recognize Council Member

          6  Gentile who just  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Of course.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  --  Joined us

          9  from Brooklyn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  We always

         11  want to do that. No, no, Mr. Chair, I'm going to

         12  defer questioning further on Intro. 428 because your

         13  questioning was so thorough and in the interest of

         14  time and the imperative to hear from witnesses.

         15                 I would just beseech DCAS, a

         16  Department for which I have great respect, something

         17  you and your Commissioner certainly knows, to really

         18  work with us on this issue.  Consider the underlying

         19  concerns and issues of fairness and perceptions of

         20  fairness within and without the Department, the

         21  imperative of professional parity with EMS and other

         22  Departments.

         23                 Also, as things become more and more

         24  complicated in this City, as the Chief just

         25  testified to, that there are differences beyond
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          2  those to which you've alluded between Captain and

          3  Lieutenant and even supervising a wider number of, a

          4  greater number of people may involve a different set

          5  of skills than a lesser number, warranting a, you

          6  know, the need to treat Lieutenant and Captain

          7  differentials in terms of promotion process within

          8  the EMS the same as within the rest of the Fire

          9  Department and the rest of the uniformed services.

         10                 So, I just give, we will, I'm sure,

         11  have a second Hearing on this and I just leave you

         12  with those thoughts to ponder and look forward to

         13  continuing the discussion.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         15  Council Member. Again, we will be definitely having

         16  further conversation, particularly on the issue of

         17  fairness and perception, as Council Member Gerson

         18  clearly highlighted, within EMS and the process of

         19  promotion.

         20                 I would, you know, recognize, Chief,

         21  your involvement and leadership in making sure that

         22  there is fairness in the promotional process.  But,

         23  however, you know, it's hard to understand, and I

         24  look forward to further conversation with you, where

         25  we have a process where we have interviews and we
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          2  have individuals that may get promoted with less

          3  time and less seniority than those that may have the

          4  time and the seniority, are issue of questions

          5  within the Department.  I'm not questioning your

          6  process.  I clearly heard what you said in terms of

          7  what you've done in your tenure within the

          8  Department and administrating this process.

          9                 The same is true that we will be

         10  reaching out in Intro. 278 and Council Member

         11  Clarke, so that we could iron out some of the

         12  differences in terms of the language that we use in

         13  the bill.

         14                 I must say that on Intro. 134, I

         15  think that there's a lot that the City needs to do

         16  to address the issue of servicing each New Yorker in

         17  a dignified and fair way when we attend to any

         18  citizen of the City of New York.  It would be this

         19  Council's responsibility to ensure, through our

         20  oversight power and budgeting power, that we provide

         21  you with the resources needed to address these

         22  issues.  For us, as legislators, if we have to do it

         23  through law, make it law that all citizens of New

         24  York, when calling EMS, are provided with a

         25  dignified way of getting to the hospital.
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          2                 Council Member  --  I'm sorry.

          3  Intro. 76, I know we're going to have further

          4  discussion on the issue of reporting. I know that

          5  for the Commissioner of the Department, of one

          6  Department, both the Fire Department and EMS, his

          7  big issue is respond.  He wants to make sure that we

          8  have the most efficient Department when responding

          9  to emergency and I'm sure and confident that this

         10  also applies when responding to medical emergencies.

         11    We will be having further conversation both with

         12  you, Chief, and Commissioner Scoppetta of the

         13  Department, to see how we could get better

         14  information when we respond to a medical condition

         15  and how fast we get to the actual patient.

         16                 DCAS, thank you for coming and we

         17  will definitely have further conversation as to how

         18  it is that there's no difference between a

         19  Lieutenant and a Captain.  I think that, I'm

         20  concerned that if there is no clear difference by,

         21  according to your experts, then why are we paying

         22  more in terms of budget wise?

         23                 So, I look forward to having further

         24  conversation with DCAS and EMS and the Commissioner

         25  of the Fire Department, so that we could get the
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          2  tools we need, through the information, so that we

          3  could make sure that all New Yorkers are protected

          4  and have the adequate response when calling EMS.

          5                 Gentlemen, thank you for your

          6  testimony and look forward to further conversation

          7  with you.

          8                 CHIEF PERUGGIA:  Thank you.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Is Dr. Giron

         10  still here? The next witness will be Mark Rosenthal.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  I trust that

         12  the Fire Department has someone here that they're

         13  leaving, okay, good, so you can hear some anecdotal

         14  information.  It took you a long time to get here,

         15  Mark.  It took around a year and so.  Well, let's

         16  see some justice come from this.  No, no, he's the

         17  Chair, he'll direct you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Please

         19  identify yourself and start your testimony.

         20                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Mark Rosenthal.  I

         21  work at DC37. I live in the Bronx, a citizen of New

         22  York City.  All right, well --

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Ms. Belfer.

         24  Just identify yourself for the record.  Yes, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Push that
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          2  button in there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Push the

          4  button, so you turn off the light.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Turn off the

          6  light.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  When it's

          8  off, it's on. When it's on, it's off.

          9                 MS. BELFER:  Okay.  My name is Linda

         10  Belfer and for purposes of identification only, I am

         11  a member of Community Board One and Chair of the

         12  Battery Park City Committee.  I'm the President of

         13  the Gateway Plaza Tenants Association and female

         14  democratic district leader in this district.

         15                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Well, in 2003, I was

         16  at City Hall and suffered a stroke and my guys got

         17  me over to Beekman Hill Hospital.  I spent 16 days

         18  there recovering from a stroke, which is, which was

         19  pretty severe and then there was a day I was

         20  supposed to leave.  It took six hours for them to

         21  get me out of the hospital.

         22                 The first difficulty I found was that

         23  there wasn't a wheelchair.  I thought I was going to

         24  go into a wheelchair, be brought to the door and put

         25  in an ambulance.  So, it took like four hours to
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          2  negotiate them to come down there and they said,

          3  well, we got a stretcher.  The first stretcher I

          4  couldn't get into.  So, they brought a second

          5  stretcher.  The second stretcher, I had to lay on

          6  the ground, they had to tie me in, right? And I was

          7  in a lot of pain because I was very heavy and all

          8  the way it was pressing on me and after being, my

          9  life being save, I found myself in excruciating pain

         10  being wheeled through the, through the hospital.

         11                 And, like the Fire Department said,

         12  sure, when they can't get someone in an ambulance,

         13  they call other people. So, they called other EMS

         14  technicians and there were three ambulances that

         15  showed up.  It took six people to get me into the

         16  ambulance.  But, instead of being put somewhere

         17  comfortable, I was laid on the floor and I was told

         18  that I had to be strapped in because that's, that's

         19  the way, they couldn't transport me unless I was

         20  strapped in.

         21                 Well, the pain got so unbearable I

         22  started to cry, and I begged the technicians to take

         23  off the straps and let me sit up.  Since I was so

         24  big, I wasn't able to sit up comfortably, but, you

         25  know, I was in the ambulance sitting up, I remember
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          2  I had to rest against the glass door.  The glass

          3  door was where they keep the band- aids and the

          4  scissors and everything they use to do first aid and

          5  I kept, all right, well, am I going to crush that

          6  glass door, am I going to even get injured further,

          7  right?

          8                 Well, there were three ambulances

          9  following me to rehab and the rehab was out of

         10  Rockaway.  When I got there, the same six guys took

         11  me off, I thanked them and I was taken out in

         12  wheelchair.  I was taken off the ambulance, untied

         13  and put into a comfortable wheelchair.  My side of

         14  the question, why wasn't there adequate wheelchair

         15  for me?  Why wasn't there an adequate stretcher for

         16  me?  And, why did I have to lay on the floor?

         17                 That's when I came to, some of the

         18  people I know and I asked them that they should ask

         19  these questions because I felt that nobody should

         20  suffer like that.  This is my story. After I got to

         21  rehab, I met the population, of 45 people that were

         22  there, and I was the only person who was able to

         23  walk.  Out of the 45 people I met, 44 were in

         24  wheelchairs, because most of the morbidly obese end

         25  up in wheelchairs after they get sick.
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          2                 The big problem is machines, to find

          3  out what's wrong with them, we don't have adequate

          4  machines.  There's not adequate beds.  There's no

          5  adequate wheelchairs and these, there needs

          6  something to be done.  We either get the questions

          7  here and answers that you gentlemen are doing now

          8  and this population should be fully protected like

          9  every other population in this City.  Thank you.

         10                 MS. BELFER:  Before I go into my

         11  comments, let me just comment on one thing that was

         12  just said.  This was a gentleman who was transported

         13  after he had recovered.  Imagine what would have

         14  happened to him if he was being transported when he

         15  had the stroke and they had to wait for three more

         16  ambulances to come to get him onto the ambulance?

         17                 Now, I'm here today, obviously,

         18  because of the way I look, you know which part of

         19  this bill that I'm testifying against, or rather

         20  about.

         21                 This is the last politically correct

         22  prejudice left in America.  That of making fun of

         23  overweight people.  All of this causes psychic and

         24  emotional pain.  But, that's not what we're here to

         25  address today.  We're here to address the health
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          2  risks and the physical difficulties of transporting

          3  the morbidly obese to the hospital in an emergent

          4  situation.

          5                 Not only is there a problem with the

          6  weight bearing capacity of the stretchers and the

          7  fact that there's not necessarily enough personnel

          8  on the ambulance to deal adequately with a person

          9  who is vastly overweight, but the width of the

         10  stretchers is also a very large problem.

         11                 I have been transported more than

         12  once in an ambulance and despite the fact that in

         13  terms of weight, the stretcher has held me, the way

         14  the stretchers are contoured and the handles that

         15  are on either side of the patient's body, I found

         16  myself laying on top of these handles, because the

         17  width of the stretcher is not enough.  Either I was

         18  stuffed in between the two handles like a sausage

         19  and, of course, that presses into the flesh and

         20  hurts or, literally, I was on top of these metal

         21  handles.  So, we need to address not only the weight

         22  bearing capacity, but also the contour of the

         23  stretcher.

         24                 In addition to that, the person who

         25  is ill, okay, is already suffering a tremendous
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          2  amount of emotional distress, as well as physical

          3  distress.  Add to that the sensitivity of the

          4  individual.  I know I get extremely frightened when

          5  two people try to lift me onto that stretcher.  Not

          6  that they cannot do it, but I fear that they cannot

          7  do it.  They have done it and each time they have

          8  done it.  But, that does not mean that the next time

          9  I am not just as fearful that they will not be able

         10  to do it and that they will drop me.  Those issues

         11  are not addressed.

         12                 Number three.  I don't believe, I am

         13  in favor of this bill in a limited way.  I don't

         14  believe that 134 goes nearly far enough.  To require

         15  only two vehicles in each borough that would be

         16  capable of transporting either of the two of us, for

         17  example, that's ridiculous.  When we spent two hours

         18  discussing response time.  If there's only two

         19  vehicles in a borough and I live on one end of the

         20  borough and the vehicles happen to be on the other

         21  end of the borough, the response time, obviously, is

         22  going to be extended.

         23                 Beyond that, if they don't make a

         24  simple question like, how much does this patient

         25  weigh, part of the protocol of the 9- 1- 1 call,
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          2  they don't even know to send one of these two

          3  special vehicles.  So, therefore, you get an

          4  ambulance who comes, that's incapable of handling

          5  the patient.  They then have to call in again to get

          6  the correct ambulance, God knows where that

          7  ambulance is.

          8                 There is no reason why every  --

          9  look, it's a question of money, I understand that.

         10  I'm not unmindful of budgets.  But, there is no

         11  reason why every ambulance should not be capable of

         12  handling any patient.  You don't know who you're

         13  going to get.  It's the luck of the draw when a call

         14  comes in. If a person happens to be an extremist and

         15  happens, at the same time, to be obese or morbidly

         16  obese, you cannot afford to have the response time

         17  extended so that the correct vehicle happens to come

         18  to the patient's home or wherever that patient

         19  happens to be.

         20                 I think that the bill needs to be

         21  worked on a little bit more.  I would like to

         22  suggest that additional language be put into it, so

         23  that it does require certainly more than two

         24  vehicles in a borough, that's utterly ridiculous;

         25  that the stretcher limitations be addressed; that
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          2  the 9- 1- 1 calling system and the message

          3  transmittal to EMS include the needs of the patient.

          4    Now, I mean, that's simple.  That doesn't even

          5  require any money.  What's wrong with the patient?

          6  He's having a heart attack.  How much does the

          7  patient weigh?  500 pounds. Another ten seconds,

          8  it's not a big deal.

          9                 Now, I sat and I listened patiently

         10  to the, to the testimony of these distinguished

         11  gentlemen and, in fact, I felt like I was waiting

         12  for an ambulance to come.  I think that the Chief's

         13  objection to this bill, using as an explanation that

         14  they already have vehicles that are capable of

         15  handling the morbidly obese is disingenuous, because

         16  if, in fact, that is what they are doing.  I'll take

         17  them at face value.  Let me believe him.  I don't

         18  want to accuse him of lying.  There's not reason not

         19  to codify it into law.  Okay, I mean, you know, you

         20  only fear something being made into law when you are

         21  not doing what the law would require you to do.

         22                 So, therefore, again, let me

         23  reiterate the points. I think that you need to go

         24  back and re- work the definitions in that portion of

         25  the bill, require a little bit more of the EMS than
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          2  you have required in this bill, and make sure that

          3  it gets codified into law.  Because, I do not want

          4  to  --  it's bad enough that as a morbidly obese

          5  person, I already have health risks that go beyond

          6  the health risks of the general public, but I do

          7  suffer from the same health risks, perhaps more

          8  frequently, however.  If it's more frequently, then

          9  certainly, forget about my dignity, I'm talking

         10  about my safety.  My dignity, obviously, is

         11  important to me, but more importantly, more

         12  important to me is that I arrive at the hospital

         13  still alive.

         14                 The way this is currently

         15  constructed, I don't think it quite does what it

         16  needs to do.  I commend you all on your efforts and

         17  if, in fact, at the moment, this is all we can get,

         18  I'd rather have this than nothing.  But, if, in

         19  fact, we can made some amendments to the language

         20  and to the requirements, before this made into law,

         21  I would like to suggest that you do that.

         22                 I'd be more than willing to come any

         23  other time and make any further testimony that you

         24  feel is necessary.  It's not anecdotal.  We

         25  represent a population.  Unfortunately, as Mr.
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          2  Martinez said a little while ago, all you hear on

          3  the television new shows is that the American

          4  population is getting fatter and fatter and fatter

          5  and fatter and fatter.  Well, if that's the case,

          6  then why aren't we addressing this more stringently?

          7                 You know, at the same time, you could

          8  encourage me to lose weight.  But, right now, I have

          9  a certain set of needs and Michael has a certain set

         10  of needs and a large percentage of our population

         11  have certain sets of needs that are not currently

         12  being addressed.  Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you for

         14  your testimony.  I just want to, for point of

         15  information, let you know that absolutely, this is

         16  the first Hearing on that particular bill, Intro.

         17  134 and, obviously sponsored by Council Member

         18  Sanders.  We will be having greater discussion in

         19  terms of how do we proceed with the bill.

         20                 I also want to inform you that there

         21  are several, two other bills, right Council Member

         22  Sanders?  One that addresses the issue in terms,

         23  what we're addressing here today is the

         24  transportation of the patient.  I know that there's

         25  another bill that addresses the needs of the patient
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          2  once he or she is in the hospital.

          3                 As a member of the Health Committee

          4  myself, it's one discussion that I will be having

          5  with Council Member, Chair of the Health Committee,

          6  Joel Rivera, in terms of how do we also start the

          7  discussion and Hearings on that piece of legislation

          8  that addresses the needs of the patient once they're

          9  already in the hospital, as described thoroughly

         10  here.  Once the patient's in the hospital, there are

         11  also other needs that need to be addressed.

         12                 However, Intro. 134 addresses the

         13  issue of the transportation, as you described, you

         14  know, the need not only to have the stretcher that

         15  could handle the weight, but also that have the

         16  width for a patient to comfortably be transported

         17  from the apartment to the ambulance.

         18                 I want to thank you for your

         19  testimony and your courage, by the way, of coming

         20  forward and addressing this issue and your

         21  testimony.  I'm sure there are many other New

         22  Yorkers that are going through the same situation.

         23  Councilman Sanders.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         25  Mr. Chair.  It has been said by Ms. Belfer and
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          2  others that this is one of the last places where

          3  political correctness does not touch, where we can

          4  turn to any Comedy Central station, any night of the

          5  week, any day, go to any comedy club, it's a

          6  standard, in fact.  It's almost as if you're saying

          7  we have to have this type of joke here.

          8                 I can attest that just moving the

          9  bill has been difficult because it's been an

         10  education for all of us.  I commend you, Mr.

         11  Rosenthal, for bringing it to my attention.  It is

         12  not a natural thing that I would see.  I was blind

         13  to it and to this prejudice and to the effect of

         14  what this prejudice does, because this, like so many

         15  other prejudices, kills.  It absolutely kills

         16  people.

         17                 So, you were bold enough, brave

         18  enough to bring this and I wrestled with it and I

         19  said, you know what, the man is right.  You're

         20  right.  We actually have a problem here and for all

         21  of us, I would argue, that it has been a learning

         22  thing, a learning curve has had to happen.  It is

         23  one of the last places where you can make a cheap

         24  joke at the butt of another human being and receive

         25  no penalties anywhere, except for have praise.
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          2                 Now, just moving this bill has been

          3  interesting and I draw your attention to some of the

          4  lessons that we've learned from the civil rights

          5  struggle, where I will concede that this bill is a,

          6  may, this and it's companion bill, is not everything

          7  that we need to have.  But, there is something

          8  called the limit of the possible.  Just getting this

          9  is going to be interesting.  I would argue

         10  difficult.  Just getting this.

         11                 Why is it difficult?  I'll leave to

         12  your imagination.  That it is difficult is not

         13  something that we can imagine.  But, I'm, again,

         14  reminded, as has been pointed out, that every study,

         15  every report is saying that we are getting larger,

         16  we are getting larger.  To the Fire Department,

         17  which is saying that they want to have these

         18  ambulances longer, may I remind them that we are not

         19  getting radically longer, but we are getting

         20  radically wider.

         21                 My friends in the Fire Department,

         22  you're going the wrong way.  If you have the

         23  advantage, if you have some vehicles about to come

         24  out, it's cheaper to redesign now, at such a low

         25  cost to the, relatively speaking, to the City of New
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          2  York, than to be forced into something later where

          3  the cost goes up. 40 ambulances, I mean, we could,

          4  that's more than two per borough if we did this

          5  right.  Heck, half of them redesigned or a third of

          6  them, whatever, and you'll get more than we're

          7  asking for today.

          8                 So, I implore the, I beseech, heck,

          9  I'll even do it, I beg the Fire Department,

         10  reconsider.  You know, we're going about it wrong.

         11  Even with the new design, you won't be as wide as a

         12  fire truck, even with a new design.  So, it's not a

         13  question of transversing the streets.  You're doing

         14  it with your fire trucks already.  It is a question

         15  of safety and security and health, but we also

         16  should do it with the dignity that New Yorkers

         17  deserve and that we all in this room, I say that we

         18  want to uphold.

         19                 So, I want to stop and open the floor

         20  to my other colleagues if there's anything that they

         21  want to add to this. Again, congratulate you for

         22  your great courage in bringing this issue and being

         23  the  --  watch the newspaper, not, no newspaper in

         24  this room, of course, watch the newspapers tomorrow

         25  that will make small of this issue.  But, be that as
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          2  it may, we still must press forward.  Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Council Member

          5  Gerson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm not going

          7  to touch the last comment of Council Member Sanders,

          8  especially seated where I am.  But, I do concur with

          9  all the, both the passion and the content of your

         10  sponsorship of this important legislation and as

         11  well, of course, as that articulated by our Chair.

         12                 I join in thanking and commending

         13  both of you.  To my district leader, Linda Belfer,

         14  it's great to see you here, having just gone through

         15  a very, very rough ordeal.  My colleagues, now you

         16  see how fortunate we are in Lower Manhattan to have

         17  the benefit of the leadership and wisdom of Linda

         18  Belfer.

         19                 I just want to pick up on one of

         20  those incisive points you made about the need to

         21  deal with this issue of assuring adequate and

         22  comfortable care throughout the health care system

         23  for people of all weights.  If the health care

         24  system is supposed to treat people of all kinds of

         25  conditions, physical and medical conditions, that
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          2  must include people of all weights. And I think what

          3  is called for, clearly from your testimony and from

          4  all the information we have, is an across the board,

          5  the development of an across the board set of

          6  standards.

          7                 So, whether it's in stretchers or

          8  MRIs, I know people who have not been able to get

          9  timely MRIs because local hospitals do not have ones

         10  of adequate size or hospital beds. There are

         11  protocols put in place in advance to assure that all

         12  people can receive top treatment.  It seems to me

         13  that a good beginning place would be with the 40

         14  ambulances that the City is about, for which the

         15  City is about to issue specifications.  As Ms.

         16  Belfer pointed out, if they're meeting the call, if

         17  they're meeting this need, there should be no

         18  objection and we should be well able to implement

         19  and spell out in the bid specification and in law

         20  standards to assure capacity for people of all sizes

         21  and weights.

         22                 So, there's no excuse not to do that

         23  and I think, Mr. Chair, your point and Councilman

         24  Sanders' point, taking this opportunity, shame on us

         25  if we allow this, the purchase of these 40
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          2  ambulances to go forward without a guarantee,

          3  without written protocols.  I want to see them in

          4  black and white, to assure that these 40 and all

          5  future ambulances will be able, and including their

          6  stretchers, will be able to serve this very, very

          7  important need.

          8                 Again, we'll have time to look at the

          9  technical issues.  If the ambulances under

         10  consideration are already up to it, then we should

         11  spell it out and make it clear that for the future,

         12  they remain up to it.  But, if they're not, we

         13  should make the necessary adjustment and now is the

         14  time.  So, with your inspiration, we will do the job

         15  to benefit countless New Yorkers. Thank you both

         16  very, very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you for

         18  your testimony.  Call up the next panel.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Next panel is

         20  Tom Eppinger, representing Local 3621, the Uniformed

         21  EMS Officers Union and Donald Faeth, representing

         22  the Uniformed EMTs Paramedics FDNY.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Just please

         24  identify yourself and start your testimony.

         25                 MR. EPPINGER:  Thank you.  Good
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          2  afternoon.  My name is Tom Eppinger.  I'm the

          3  President of the Uniformed EMS Officers Union of the

          4  Fire Department of New York.

          5                 MR. FAETH:  Don Faeth, Vice-

          6  President Uniformed EMTs and Paramedics Union.

          7                 MR. EPPINGER:  Good afternoon.  I

          8  would like to thank Councilman Martinez and the

          9  Members of the Fire and Criminal Justice Services

         10  Committee for giving me an opportunity to testify

         11  today on these important bills.  The members of

         12  Local 3621 Uniformed EMS Officers Union have had a

         13  chance to review the bills before the Council today.

         14    I would like to offer the following comments on

         15  their behalf:

         16                 Intro. 76.  Local Law to amend

         17  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         18  relation to comprehensive tracking of emergency

         19  medical service response times.  In general, our

         20  Union supports this legislation and commends the

         21  City Council for introducing it.  It is important to

         22  note that true response time for care that EMS

         23  workers bring to patients is bedside and not

         24  curbside.  This legislation would illustrate that

         25  our actual response time to cardiac arrest victims
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          2  is actually longer than what is currently released

          3  by FDNY.  Also, this legislation will change the way

          4  FDNY has to operate with EMS and will show that we

          5  are not staffed appropriately.

          6                 Our Position.  While Local 3621

          7  supports this legislation, we suggest the City

          8  Council consider adding a provision to the bill that

          9  adds another radio code that shows that EMS

         10  personnel are with the patient.  Currently, we

         11  transmit on the scene of, with, on, in the vehicle

         12  computer or on the radio to the dispatcher, which is

         13  a signal 10- 84.  The Department could add a new

         14  computer verbal signal for when we reach the

         15  patient, which could be a 10- 84P, for patient.  If

         16  the EMS personnel cannot reach the dispatcher, which

         17  is not an uncommon occurrence, they can document

         18  this time on their ambulance call report or on their

         19  vehicle computer.

         20                 Intro. 134.  Local Law to amend the

         21  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

         22  relation to ambulance transport capability for the

         23  morbidly obese.  At this time, the only equipment

         24  that members of FDNY EMS use is a 500- pound rated

         25  stretcher.  Unfortunately, this stretcher may be
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          2  rated for the weight, but is not wide enough for the

          3  obese patient.  Also, the stretchers are mounted

          4  against the left wall, making it very uncomfortable

          5  for these obese patient, for the obese patient and

          6  making patient care impossible.

          7                 Also, we are still using the same

          8  stair chair patient carrying device for over 20

          9  years.  The chair is not rated for any significant

         10  weight and has caused numerous injuries to our

         11  members.  There are proper carrying devices for this

         12  type of weight that our union has identified, yet

         13  the Department has yet to purchase any.

         14                 Our position.  Local 3621 fully

         15  supports this legislation.  The City should have

         16  staffed ambulances with specialized trained

         17  personnel in each borough of the City to handle the

         18  patient care and delivery of the obese patient.

         19  These ambulances should include a wider stretcher,

         20  center- mounted and appropriate carrying devices.

         21  It is only logical in a City of this population to

         22  have the Fire Department provide this service. It is

         23  not appropriate to have a private ambulance company

         24  driven by billing and notoriety to handle this

         25  service.
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          2                 Intro. 428.  A Local Law to amend the

          3  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          4  relation to requirements for promotion of

          5  individuals serving in Emergency Medical Service

          6  positions within the New York City Fire Department.

          7  First, I would like to thank Councilman Gerson for

          8  introducing this legislation, for working with the

          9  members of our Union, and incorporating our comments

         10  into the bill.

         11                 Our Position.  We fully support this

         12  legislation. Currently, FDNY sponsors a subjective

         13  evaluation to call for promotions.  The results of

         14  this practice have led to two discrimination

         15  lawsuits, which are still being heard in the courts.

         16    Well, currently, one has been settled.  One would

         17  think after federal probe regarding firefighting,

         18  the firefighter requirement, the Department would

         19  change its procedure on the promotion of the EMS

         20  officer.

         21                 Local, Intro. 278.  A Local Law to

         22  amend the Charter of the City New York in relation

         23  to public notice prior to permanent removal of any

         24  emergency medical service battalion.

         25                 Our Position.  Local 3621 is in full,
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          2  fully support of Intro. 278.  It is vital that the

          3  FDNY notify the community when it decides to

          4  permanently remove a (sic) EMS battalion.  Recently,

          5  at Astoria Hospital, in Astoria, Queens, FDNY

          6  decided to close EMS Station 49 and relocate two of

          7  its ambulances to other communities.  Thankfully, as

          8  a result of the leadership of Councilman Peter

          9  Vallone, Junior, this was prevented and the

         10  community kept all its ambulances and EMS officers

         11  to save the neighborhood.

         12                 Also of major concern, FDNY only has

         13  one EMS Officer on- duty at EMS Stations called EMS

         14  Battalions.  If the EMS Officer is not at the EMS

         15  Station/Battalion and there is no one at the

         16  location and someone comes there for help, no one

         17  will answer.  There is no call box or no telephone.

         18  We urge the Council to consider adding a provision

         19  to this legislation which ensures that two EMS

         20  Officers are assigned to the EMS Station/Battalion

         21  at all times.

         22                 Thank you for considering these

         23  points and, again, I would thank Chairman Martinez

         24  and the Members of the Committee for your support on

         25  the matter.
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          2                 MR. FAETH:  Thank you Chairman

          3  Martinez and distinguished Members of the Fire and

          4  Criminal Justice Committee for this opportunity to

          5  address you on these important issues concerning the

          6  Emergency Medical Services.  My name, again, is

          7  Donald Faeth and I currently hold the position of

          8  Vice- President for the Union, representing

          9  approximately 2,400 EMTs and paramedics for the New

         10  York City Fire Department.

         11                 Mandating proper notification with

         12  enough time to bring light to and have discussion

         13  for reasons the Department is closing EMS facilities

         14  is an initiative that we fully support. Providing

         15  accommodations for obese patients, having a civil

         16  service exam for ranks of Captain and above, and

         17  recording more accurate response times are all

         18  initiatives that we also support.

         19                 With regards to Intro. 278, the Fire

         20  Department has been creating new facilities for EMS

         21  personnel on a yearly basis.  We are still a good

         22  distance from what the Department promised in the

         23  original Memorandum of Understanding presented at

         24  the merger hearings in 1996, but they are moving in

         25  the right direction.
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          2                 Last year, however, the Department

          3  sought to close the Astoria Station without any

          4  discussion or notification to that community.  This

          5  would have resulted in units affected being

          6  dispersed to surrounding facilities, which would

          7  have resulted in greater response times.  We thank

          8  the City Council for intervening at that time and

          9  reversing this decision.  But, the Fire Department

         10  still holds the position that they are not required

         11  to acquire permission to do this in the future.  We

         12  are not seeking to reinvent the wheel.  The Fire

         13  Department is currently required to make proper

         14  notification for fire house closures, the same

         15  should apply for EMS stations.

         16                 On that note, I know that Chief

         17  Peruggia had made a comparison of why they're

         18  different and it's an erroneous comparison.  He

         19  states that the EMS resources are distributed in

         20  City block locations, whereas the fire suppression

         21  side responds directly from the house.  What he

         22  negates to mention is the fact that during these

         23  roll calls or the tour changes, where you have three

         24  of them every day, personnel are being assigned to

         25  calls significantly distant from that location where
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          2  they change their tours in order to help somebody.

          3                 Just a case of fact, when I worked in

          4  the Bronx, if you're familiar with the Bronx

          5  locations, my unit came out of Jacobi Hospital, but

          6  I was responsible for Riverdale.  That's completely

          7  across the borough.  That's something that needs to

          8  be taken into account and that's why the communities

          9  that we serve should be made aware if there are

         10  going, if they are going to close one of these

         11  stations, because it can significantly impact the

         12  response time.

         13                 With regards to Intro. 134, I'd like

         14  to just start off by saying, in my world as a

         15  paramedic, the two witnesses that you had here are

         16  light, they're very light, they're mobile.  The

         17  majority of the overweight patients that, that we

         18  have transport and, with this type of situation, are

         19  people who are not mobile, have no capability of

         20  movement on their own.

         21                 The problem that we're seeing right

         22  now is that, today, in order for us to transport

         23  that person to the hospital, we have to remove the

         24  stretcher, then remove the securing brackets of the

         25  floor to that ambulance, and for that stretcher and
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          2  then we have to slide the person onto the floor.

          3  This, obviously, is not only uncomfortable and

          4  embarrassing for the patient, it also not safe.

          5  We're unable to securely strap them in and no matter

          6  how well the crews try to maintain the vehicle, the

          7  floor will always remain unsanitary.

          8                 This is a situation that desperately

          9  needs to be addressed.  We are aware that the

         10  Department is currently looking at larger vehicles

         11  to accommodate HazMat operations, we feel that this

         12  may be a venue where this issue can possibly be

         13  addressed, as you guys stated.

         14                 Also, that 1,100 pound capacity

         15  rating that the Chief had mentioned, well, that's

         16  all well and good, but your weight carrying capacity

         17  has nothing to do with size carrying capacity.  The

         18  two are different.  The stretcher width is still the

         19  same.  And, with the, with that stretcher being the

         20  same width, you're not capable of safely

         21  transporting people because half of their body is

         22  off of that stretcher.  It's inappropriate, even for

         23  people who aren't severely, grossly overweight.

         24  It's, it's just not, it's not feasible.  It's like

         25  trying to put a 400 pound person into the driver's
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          2  seat of a Fiat.  It's not going to work.

          3                 With regards to Intro. 428, the civil

          4  service requirements for the positions of Captain

          5  and above is long overdue.  It is a running joke in

          6  our system that in order to promote, it is not what

          7  you know, but it is who you know. Currently, there

          8  are several federal EEO lawsuits against the City

          9  due to this practice.  Again, this is done on the

         10  fire side, where there are civil service exams all

         11  the way up to, I believe, Chief, Deputy Chief? I

         12  believe.  Why are we treated differently It needs,

         13  it needs to change.

         14                 Intro. 76, last, but definitely not

         15  least.  The public is currently being misinformed as

         16  to how long it takes for assistance to arrive in a

         17  medical emergency.  We live in a vertical City where

         18  the time that is recorded when an ambulance arrives

         19  in front of the building grossly underestimates the

         20  time the patient is receiving oxygen or other life-

         21  saving interventions.  Also, realize there are many

         22  communities that are gated, that have a court yard,

         23  which shares a significant horizontal time also.

         24  That's also not being recorded.

         25                 The American Heart Association has
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          2  documented that a cardiac arrest victim without CPR

          3  within the first five and a half minutes will not be

          4  resuscitated.  If they do, they're going to be brain

          5  dead.  It's the simple fact.  Yet, fire suppression

          6  is staffed and funded for a four and a half minute

          7  response to fire, but EMS is funded for more than a

          8  seven minute response to a Priority One call.

          9  Priority One is cardiac arrest, difficulty breathing

         10  and chest pain.

         11                 The system has the capability of

         12  recording time our personnel reach the patient, but

         13  they will make every excuse to refrain from doing

         14  so, because they gauge their performance on these

         15  times, not by the survivability of the patient.

         16  There's something wrong here.  Each one of our crew

         17  members, as you probably know, carry portable

         18  radios.  Quite often, they, they, if they forget hit

         19  the button, notify the dispatcher in the ambulance,

         20  they will give that notification over the air.

         21                 Now, if everybody was to just look at

         22  their watch, I know that the Department said that

         23  this might waste a lot of time.  Take a quick

         24  reference here and see how long it takes to say, Two

         25  Five x- ray, double eight on the scene.  That's all
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          2  you have to say, that's it.  They'd be spending that

          3  time in the ambulance before getting out to get

          4  their equipment, so where's the difference?

          5                 Other systems across the country have

          6  adopted this policy and have witnessed marked

          7  improvements in cardiac arrest resuscitations

          8  because they allocated resources more appropriately.

          9    Our people aren't even given elevator keys to

         10  expedite access to apartments.  Again, firefighters

         11  are provided these tools, why aren't the people

         12  whose response is so critically time- sensitive not

         13  provided with this?  This needs to be addressed and

         14  it needed to be addressed yesterday.

         15                 Thank you, again, for your time and

         16  if you have any questions, I'm more than welcome to

         17  answer them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you both

         19  for your testimony.  I just have several, I want to

         20  have some clarity based on what we heard from the

         21  Chief and I want to hear from the rank.

         22                 Is there a difference between a

         23  Lieutenant and a Captain?  Because, basically, at

         24  the end of the day, in lay terms, I heard that there

         25  is no difference.  Experts gave them their expert
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          2  opinion that because there is no difference, there's

          3  no exam required.  Other than the fact that you have

          4  one Captain at a station, and I believe he said you

          5  can have about three Lieutenants at a station, where

          6  you have a Captain supervising the work of three

          7  Lieutenants.  So, is there any difference between a

          8  Lieutenant and a Captain?

          9                 MR. EPPINGER:  Absolutely.  We have

         10  an operating guide that probably now is about five

         11  inches think, if you're not lucky to have it on CD.

         12  There's a difference in our operating guide.  It has

         13  to do with the details of the responsibilities of

         14  all members in EMS within the Fire Department.

         15  There's a difference between Lieutenant and Captain

         16  and each procedure calls for a difference between

         17  Lieutenant and Captain.

         18                 There's the significant difference of

         19  what the roles and responsibilities are.  If you

         20  want to look at the private business industry, we

         21  could say that on the top, at a station level, is

         22  the Captain.  They are responsible for the entire

         23  facility, the personnel, the vehicles, the command

         24  discipline that goes on, everything, everything,

         25  fueling, everything.  That is their total
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          2  responsibility.  The buck stops on their desk.

          3                 The Lieutenant is part of the chain

          4  who's responsible for a smaller amount of people.

          5  But, for the Fire Department to actually say that

          6  there's no difference, I'll give you one example.  I

          7  wish my Vice- President was here because this is,

          8  he's a Captain, he's commanding officer of Station

          9  26  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  And you are a

         11  Lieutenant?

         12                 MR. EPPINGER:  I'm a Lieutenant.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  You're a

         14  Lieutenant, okay.

         15                 MR. EPPINGER:  I will never be

         16  promoted because I am not a friend of somebody.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  We're going to

         18  change that.

         19                 MR. EPPINGER:  I hope so.  I, I'll

         20  just tell you that I took my exam in 1997.  I scored

         21  14th out of probably 1,500 people that were eligible

         22  for the exam.  It took about two years for them to

         23  call the list.  My wife took the exam in 1995 and

         24  was number four on the list.  Do either of us think

         25  we'll actually be promoted?  Absolutely not.  So, we
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          2  are Lieutenants, what we call, for life.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Now, let me

          4  ask you a question, how long have you been on the

          5  job?

          6                 MR. EPPINGER:  Since, 18 years.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  18 years.  In

          8  that list, were there individuals that had less

          9  years than you  --

         10                 MR. EPPINGER:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  --  And got

         12  promoted to Captain?

         13                 MR. EPPINGER:  Yes, yes.  Less time,

         14  less experience.  So, to go back, what the

         15  difference is, there's a significant difference and

         16  this is something that I hear from my vice-

         17  President every day, who is a commanding officer of

         18  a station, whose a Captain, that he's not quick

         19  enough to get his schedule done.  He's not quick

         20  enough on unusual occurrence. These are reports that

         21  need to be investigated on incidents that happen of,

         22  of nature that's not usual to the Department.

         23  Everything, everything, everything is different.

         24                 I cannot believe that I hear from

         25  these two individuals that there's no difference.
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          2  Lieutenants are not allowed to do a master schedule.

          3    That is what, how, Don's people, how we plug them

          4  into the schedule for the month.  I'm not allowed to

          5  touch that, only the Captain is.  I'm not allowed to

          6  officiate at command discipline, which is discipline

          7  that we take care of at a station level.  It doesn't

          8  go through the Department.  There are, the Captain

          9  does all of that.  I'm not allowed to touch that.

         10                 I'm allowed to officiate at my eight-

         11  hour tour and manage the small amount of people I

         12  have.  That is it.  The Captain does everything.

         13  For them to say that, I don't know where they're

         14  coming up with that.  That's not what they transmit

         15  to us in the field.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Now, how would

         17  you, a rank would describe the process of promotion?

         18    When you went through it, you went through an

         19  interview, as he said, right?

         20                 MR. EPPINGER:  This is for, you're

         21  talking about Captain?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  From

         23  Lieutenant to Captain.

         24                 MR. EPPINGER:  Well, let me just

         25  explain to you a little history we have here,
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          2  because Chief Peruggia got promoted to Chief of EMS

          3  while I became the President, same exact time, and

          4  this is what I've seen.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  So, who has

          6  higher ranking the President or the Chief?

          7                 MR. EPPINGER:  Well, I wish it was

          8  equal, so we could work together and iron these

          9  things out.  But, I think the problem we have is  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Spoken like a

         11  true President.

         12                 MR. EPPINGER:  Yeah, well, listen, we

         13  all try to work together and iron these things out.

         14  But, here's the problem, prior to his appointment as

         15  Chief of EMS, we had Chief Andy McCracken and the

         16  situation of what he described of how they

         17  interviewed people was what took place under Chief

         18  McCracken. You had a division commander, is EMS

         19  borough commander, you had a fire battalion chief

         20  and you had an EEO representative.  I think we had

         21  that once under his tenure.

         22                 Then, all of a sudden, it stopped.

         23  When it stopped was a call of promotion to Deputy

         24  Chief, where we forgot to call any of the women to

         25  be interviewed.  We had, they did the usual, they
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          2  called the very goods, you know, you could apply,

          3  but you had to be an outstanding, which we all

          4  expect.  You had to have a recommendation from your

          5  superior, which could be your, you know, your Deputy

          6  Chief, your division commander, satisfactory

          7  attendance, things like that.

          8                 But, they did not call all the

          9  outstandings.  They said, I believe it was Chief

         10  McFarland stated to one of my members, we called the

         11  outstanding of the outstanding.  That sounds like

         12  double secret probation.  It's something that I've

         13  never heard of.  It makes no sense.  So, what ended

         14  up happening? A second lawsuit.  I tried to meet

         15  with the Commissioner of the Fire Department, he was

         16  too busy to meet with me until it hit the press.

         17                 I explained to him, you cannot have

         18  this process. You have to have a blind exam.  The

         19  exam, you go in with a number two pencil and a

         20  scantron, they don't know who you are.  You take an

         21  exam.  They bar my members for promotion to Captain

         22  who are under investigation that turns out to be

         23  nonsense.  They bar members for not getting an

         24  outstanding evaluation.  That's subjective.  Like

         25  you questioned, if you're not liked, you might not
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          2  get the outstanding, you know.

          3                 I'll tell you, as a Lieutenant on

          4  this job, I had to fight to give the, I had, I think

          5  I had six people, it's going back two years, I had

          6  six people on my tour that I was responsible for, I

          7  had to fight to give them an outstanding because I

          8  felt they deserved it.  So, you know, the evaluation

          9  process is flawed.  The promotion process is flawed.

         10    Thanks to the process we have, the two individuals

         11  were allowed to sit here.  Because that might not be

         12  the case if we had an exam.

         13                 That's something I've always, I

         14  always tell Chief Cassano, the reason you are

         15  sitting in the chair you are today is because you

         16  had a process to elevate yourself.  I said, how do

         17  you, how  --  take the point of me.  I've got 18

         18  years on this job.  I've been an officer since 2000.

         19    I am not going anywhere and that's sad, because we

         20  have a lot of qualified people because they don't

         21  fit in a particular area in headquarters or they

         22  don't know somebody, that they're barred from a

         23  promotion and it's the nature of the civil servant

         24  to come on to serve, but you want to promote

         25  yourself, more money, more dignity.  I don't
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          2  understand why they want to hold everybody back.  I

          3  could tell you, but I'm, I'd be making accusations,

          4  but, I just don't understand it.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Tell me

          6  privately. Councilman Gerson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          8  very much Mr. Chair.  Your testimony was so

          9  thorough, I'm just going to ask a few very brief

         10  follow- ups to kind of complete the record.

         11                 On the issue of the response time

         12  measurement in Intro. 76, you heard testimony that

         13  the Department did not possess the necessary

         14  equipment.  Is that true?  If it's true, is it

         15  problematic, in your opinions to retrofit or get the

         16  equipment, so there can be an adequate record of

         17  time of arrival to the victim?  I mean, is there a

         18  real fundamental equipment issue here?

         19                 MR. FAETH:  Quite frankly,

         20  Councilman, I was in the back of the room quietly

         21  laughing to myself when they stated that.  They

         22  currently have the equipment and the ability to

         23  this. Every member has a portable radio.  They are

         24  using an electronic PCR, in which they scan all the

         25  information into a computer and they have at their
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          2  fingertips the response times, on scene times, how

          3  long people are in the hospitals, all based on what

          4  is written on those forms.  It's done with a stroke

          5  of a key, okay. They're already there.  They have

          6  that.

          7                 Bottom line here is, they don't want

          8  to move forward with this because they gauge

          9  everything they do on response times.  This, if this

         10  pilot is capable of going forward, the public is

         11  actually going to have the smoke cleared from their

         12  eyes and they're going to see the reality of how

         13  long it really takes for assistance to be reaching

         14  their loved ones.  They don't want the public to see

         15  that, that's, would reflect negatively on them.

         16  That's what it really comes down to right now.

         17                 If they want to come back and say,

         18  well, sometimes the radios don't, don't work inside

         19  the buildings, then I've got to tell you, we've got

         20  a much more serious problem here, because that's the

         21  safety of my members.  They have no ability to reach

         22  out for assistance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That's a good

         24  point. Please.

         25                 MR. EPPINGER:  If you don't mind
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          2  Councilman, I had the pleasure of serving in

          3  Manhattan for the majority of my career and I'm very

          4  familiar with the Dikeman Houses, also familiar with

          5  the building on Broadway and 135, 3333 Broadway.  I

          6  could tell you, I never enjoyed going there because,

          7  number one, you have to park your ambulance on

          8  Broadway and walk approximately two blocks to get to

          9  the entrance of the building because it's got poles

         10  in front of the building.  Then, you have to walk

         11  blocks within this huge City to find your patient.

         12                 Now, could you imagine how long it

         13  actually took me to get to somebody?  Probably 20

         14  minutes, legitimately, legitimately, and that is not

         15  a lie.  That is the truth.  Now, as we are  --

         16  yeah, without snow, that's correct and lugging all

         17  our equipment.  But, you know, as, as I've, as I got

         18  promoted and then I moved down to Midtown to work,

         19  and I've worked overtime Uptown, the housing

         20  projects are a lot better looking.  The problem is,

         21  is that now they put all these barriers where the

         22  ambulances can't get in, where traditionally we used

         23  to just plow through the blacktop and get through.

         24                 But, with the housing projects, you

         25  have different ways of getting in.  If the door is
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          2  locked, there's different buzzers, everything, you

          3  cannot, it's not an easy access to get your way in.

          4  But something very simple, it does not cost them a

          5  dime to change this system.

          6                 We went from recognizing where an

          7  ambulance sit. We changed their radio designation.

          8  We use now a 10- 89 code that says they are exactly

          9  where we want them to be.  What did that take?  It

         10  took shutting down the system on an overnight,

         11  plugging in that, that radio code, turning the

         12  system back on, having an operations order going out

         13  to the officers, distributing it to Don's

         14  membership.  That's all it took.  We could do the

         15  same thing now.

         16                 And, I'm sorry, but, we're also all

         17  required to carried a watch.  That is part of our

         18  operating guide.  So, you arrive, if you can't reach

         19  the dispatcher, which we all know we can't do, you

         20  look at your watch, they reformat the ambulance call

         21  report to have at scene, you know, with the patient,

         22  they scan it, like Don said, they'll have that

         23  information.  But they are afraid to because the

         24  Fire Department, with EMS, is gauged exactly like

         25  the Police Department.  If crime rate is on a rise
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          2  in your area, what is the Police Department doing?

          3  That's a problem.  If they actually showed the

          4  response time, the City of New York would be

          5  outraged that we can't get to anybody within a

          6  decent amount of time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Would any of

          8  those steps, with respect to the equipment, in any

          9  way, delay or undermine your ability to administer

         10  emergency care to a victim?

         11                 MR. FAETH:  Not whatsoever, none.

         12                 MR. EPPINGER:  No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Final

         14  question.  Turning to the issue of Intro., I believe

         15  it's, all these numbers we've been talking about,

         16  184.  You heard  --  no, I'm sorry, 134  -- the

         17  testimony earlier that any widening of the cab would

         18  delay or hinder the ability of ambulances to quickly

         19  navigate the streets. One, do you have a sense that

         20  a widening of the cab would be necessary or could

         21  there be other adjustments to accommodate the obese

         22  population of which we're speaking?  And, two, to

         23  the extent that a widening is necessary, would it be

         24  so much that, you know, you're the ones who are

         25  driving these vehicles, would it interfere with your
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          2  ability to navigate the streets of New York?

          3                 MR. FAETH:  I don't know what

          4  equipment is available out there.  I do know that,

          5  obviously, all people come in different shapes,

          6  sizes, colors.  That's why we have different size

          7  cervical collars, why we have different size boards

          8  for mobilization.

          9                 I'm sure that there is a company out

         10  there that has a reconfiguration at the back of the

         11  vehicle that would accommodate a larger width

         12  stretcher, which would be more appropriate for these

         13  patients.  Currently, the way it, ours is

         14  configured, the bench in which the tech sits on is

         15  wider than it probably needs to be because it holds

         16  equipment underneath it, okay.  That can be changed.

         17                 As far as navigating through the

         18  streets of New York.  There are certain locations

         19  where, when people double park, getting down the

         20  side streets is difficult.  But, I believe

         21  Councilman Sanders made a very good point, currently

         22  fire trucks are much wider, they're capable of

         23  navigating through and getting to where they needed

         24  to go.  Why should it be any different for us?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But, you
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          2  think it might be possible and certainly we should

          3  look into reconfiguration, which might not require

          4  significant actually widening of the cab?

          5                 MR. FAETH:  Yeah, I'm sure that there

          6  are certain kits that could just change the dynamics

          7  of the back of the vehicle.  Unfortunately, I don't

          8  have that information here with me  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No, no, but

         10   --

         11                 MR. FAETH:  --  I know the Department

         12    --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  --  I

         14  appreciate your perspective  --

         15                 MR. FAETH:  --  Has probably, you

         16  know, looked at stuff, it's just, you know, it

         17  always comes down to the almighty dollar and,

         18  unfortunately, it's the patient that suffers.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Mr. Eppinger.

         20                 MR. EPPINGER:  We could do something

         21  very simple. Right, you know, I wish I had a big

         22  piece of paper and, to show you how this stretcher

         23  is mounted and what the persons spoke about, you

         24  know, about how, being jammed in.  Like Don said,

         25  the stretcher isn't wide enough, but it's mounted
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          2  against the wall. If they, and they have the

          3  capability.  We're really one of the only systems I

          4  know of that do that.  They have everything mounted

          5  in the center.  If they made the stretcher wider,

          6  moved the stretcher mount over into the center,

          7  moved the locking bracket a few inches over, we

          8  might not have to buy special ambulances.  The

          9  problem is, like this person testified, who was

         10  sitting in my place, is the fear of taking them out.

         11                 We have two issues.  One, the safety

         12  of the patient and number two is the safety of our

         13  people.  That's what the Department has to recognize

         14  is that we have an obligation to our citizens and

         15  the visitors that we take care of them and we

         16  deliver them safely to the hospital.

         17                 But, I've got to tell you, this is

         18  how we do it and it was described, two ambulances.

         19  One, the stretcher is removed, the second, the

         20  stretcher goes into the spare ambulance. We put the

         21  person on a stoke (phonetic) stretcher and they lie

         22  flat on a dirty floor.  You know what, and that is

         23  so inappropriate and you cannot deliver care and it

         24  is not the way, in a City like this, of eight

         25  million people, with the largest system that we
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          2  operate.

          3                 You know, for the Chief to say that

          4  we don't have the technology, we just got new

          5  personal protective equipment. The best in the

          6  country.  We are training with live antidote for a

          7  biological attack.  We're the only ones in the

          8  country doing it.  Why, when it comes to an issue

          9  like this, we are not the only ones in the country?

         10  And I'll tell you why, it's money. And, you know

         11  what, it doesn't cost that much because, you know

         12  what, you're going to cut down on liability to the

         13  City and cut down on worker's comp. Cases to the

         14  City.  Simple things.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  I would say

         16  that, on that comment, that it's more of a

         17  Department that reacts, because the equipment that

         18  you mentioned you got, was because the Department

         19  was told by union members, you're going to face

         20  lawsuits if you don't get this equipment to our

         21  membership.

         22                 The same is true that when we talk

         23  about promotion, all of the sudden, you know, the

         24  Chief gave testimony of the fact that a gentleman

         25  was promoted and decided to go to court.  Well, that
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          2  gentleman presented the lawsuit before you offered

          3  the promotion.  I think that in this case,

          4  unfortunately, I would hope that it doesn't come to

          5  that, that we will soon see a lawsuit from a citizen

          6  of New York that didn't receive the proper care

          7  because we didn't have the proper equipment.

          8                 MR. EPPINGER:  And can I just add

          9  something about the lawsuit that he talked about so

         10  arrogantly?  That man did not have that lawsuit

         11  before they asked him if he, he had the lawsuit

         12  before he  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Before.

         14                 MR. EPPINGER:  Exactly and that was

         15   --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Correct.

         17                 MR. EPPINGER:  --  A tactic that the

         18  Department used to try to drop the lawsuit.  He was

         19  put on a Department order to be promoted the date of

         20  his, the judge's decision.  Did they promote him?

         21  No.  I had to get on the phone with the Department

         22  and threaten to bring this out publicly.

         23                 The answer I was given was, in the

         24  fairness of everyone that's getting promoted, he

         25  should really wait.  You know what? He's a Captain,
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          2  it's the failure of the Department to not make these

          3  changes and recognize and they'd rather spend more

          4  money on fighting everything than actually doing the

          5  right thing. They even chose  --  I wish I could

          6  have gotten that question to you, did you actually

          7  promote him after the judge told you you were

          8  obligated to?  And the answer was no.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  In that

         10  particular issue, we're, definitely, this Committee

         11  is going to definitely follow up and continue to get

         12  answers as to how we make this process a better

         13  process.  You know, this is a process where a group

         14  of individuals, whether they like you or don't like

         15  you will either give you a promotion or not.  It's

         16  not a system where we have fairness or a system

         17  where, described the way they described it, in terms

         18  of we looked at the merit and so forth.

         19                 We're going to ask further questions

         20  as to this process and look at any other Department.

         21    If not, then we need to really question how the

         22  Department is proceeding and DCAS intervention and

         23  the whole promotional process in the EMS services.

         24  Council Member Gerson, any further questions?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  No.  I look
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          2  to forward to following- up and making progress.  As

          3  you all said, time is long overdue, but with the

          4  leadership of our Chair and the determination of our

          5  Council, I'm sure we'll make progress. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  Thank you

          7  gentlemen for your testimony.  Having no further  --

          8                 MR. EPPINGER:  Thank you.

          9                 MR. FAETH:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ:  --  We just

         11  want to make sure we have, for the record, testimony

         12  provided by North General Hospital, Cindy Nonez

         13  (phonetic) in support of the Intro. 134. No further

         14  witnesses or testimony, this meeting is adjourned.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at at 1:40 p.m.)
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